Leukaemia Incidence in Children and Adults in the Regions of Russia Most Highly Contaminated after the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant Accident

Dissertation zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

vorgelegt von

Susanne Isabel Becker aus Frankfurt am Main

2003

Aus dem

Institut für Medizinische Informationsverarbeitung, Biometrie und Epidemiologie der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Vorstand: Prof. Dr. med. K. Überla

Leukaemia Incidence in Children and Adults in the Regions of Russia Most Highly Contaminated after the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant Accident

Dissertation zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

vorgelegt von

Susanne Isabel Becker aus Frankfurt am Main

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

| Berichterstatter: | Prof. Dr. D. Hölzel |
|--------------------------|----------------------------------|
| | |
| Mitberichterstatter: | Prof. Dr. P.U. Unschuld |
| | Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. E. Lengfelder |
| | Prof. Dr. K. Hahn |
| Dekan: | Prof. Dr. med. Dr. h.c. K. Peter |
| | |
| Tag der mündlichen Prüfu | ing:06.11.2003 |

TO THOSE WHO HAVE SUFFERED AND WILL CONTINUE TO SUFFER THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE CHERNOBYL NUCLEAR POWER PLANT ACCIDENT



CONTENTS

| 1. INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|---|-------|
| 1.1. Leukaemia – a short overview | 2 |
| 1.1.1. Definition | 2 |
| 1.1.2. Classification | 2 |
| 1.1.3. Epidemiology | 4 |
| 1.1.4. Risk factors other than radiation | 5 |
| 1.2. Situation after the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant Accident | 6 |
| 1.3. Study framework and timetable | 8 |
| 1.4. Study goal and technique | 9 |
| 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS | 10 |
| 2.1. Definition of the study period | 10 |
| 2.2. Radiological situation | 11 |
| 2.2.1. Contamination | 11 |
| 2.2.2. Doses received by the population | 14 |
| 2.3. Establishment and features of the study cohorts | 16 |
| 2.3.1. Doses received by the study cohorts | 17 |
| 2.3.2. Demographic features of the population in the study areas | 17 |
| 2.4. Techniques of ascertainment and verification of leukaemia cases | 20 |
| 2.5. Results of ascertainment and verification of leukaemia cases | 25 |
| 2.5.1. Regional differences | 25 |
| 2.5.2. Sources of and grounds for inclusion and reasons for exclusion of cases | 26 |
| 2.6. Type of study and statistical methods | 29 |
| 3. Results | 30 |
| 3.1. Analysis of data quality | 30 |
| 3.1.1. Distribution of cases by period | 30 |
| 3.1.2. Distribution of cases by age | 30 |
| 3.1.3. Distribution of cases by diagnosis | 31 |
| 3.2. Cumulative attributable risks of leukaemia | 33 |
| 3.3. Annual number of cases and standardized incidence rates – a regional compariso | on.34 |
| 3.4. Standardized incidence rates – a temporal comparison | 39 |
| 3.5. Age-specific incidence rates | 40 |

Ι

| 4. DISCUSSION | 44 |
|--|-----|
| 4.1. Completeness and quality of the data | 44 |
| 4.2. Continuity of the documentation and possible biases | 45 |
| 4.3. Strengths and limitations of the study | 46 |
| 4.4. Attributable risks of leukaemia in the study cohort and their detection | 47 |
| 4.5. Results of this study in comparison to other exposed cohorts | 47 |
| 4.5.1. Children | 47 |
| 4.5.2. Adults | |
| 4.6. Putting the risk in perspective – a comparison with other risk factors | 49 |
| 4.7. Relevance and implications for public health | 50 |
| 5. Abstract – Zusammenfassung | 52 |
| 6. Abbreviations | 54 |
| 7. GLOSSARY | 56 |
| 8. BIBLIOGRAPHY | 58 |
| ANNEXE 1 | A1 |
| Important fragments from the Methodical Recommendations for Dosimetry | A1 |
| ANNEXE 2 | A2 |
| Detailed description of the verification process | A2 |
| ANNEXE 3 | A12 |
| Confirmation – Bestätigung | A12 |
| Acknowledgements | A14 |
| Curriculum Vitae | A15 |
| Publications | A16 |

LIST OF FIGURES

- Fig 1.1 Physiological haematopoesis and point of origin of different types of leukaemia
- Fig 2.1 Official average density of ¹³⁷Cs contamination in the Bryansk oblast
- Fig 2.2 Official average density of ¹³⁷Cs contamination in the Kaluga oblast
- Fig 2.3 Demographic structure: share (%) of each 5-year age group in relation to the entire (male and female) population, the highest age group being 70+
- Fig 2.4 Cancer care and registration system of the former Soviet Union
- Fig 3.1 Different forms of leukaemia in children in the three time periods
- Fig 3.2 Different forms of leukaemia in adults in the three time periods
- Fig 3.3 Different forms of leukaemia in the different rayons under study in 1980-1998
- Fig 3.4 Leukaemia cases over the entire study period (1980-1998)
 - a) All leukaemia / highly contaminated rayons
 - b) All leukaemia excluding CLL / highly contaminated rayons
 - c) All leukaemia / combined control rayons
 - d) All leukaemia excluding CLL / combined control rayons
- Fig 3.5 Crude and standardized (world standard) incidence rates (per 100 000) in the highly contaminated rayons
 - a) All leukaemia / males
 - b) All leukaemia / females
 - c) All leukaemia excluding CLL / males
 - d) All leukaemia excluding CLL / females
- Fig 3.6 Crude and standardized (world standard) incidence rates (per 100 000) in the combined control rayons
 - a) All leukaemia / males
 - b) All leukaemia / females
 - c) All leukaemia excluding CLL / males
 - d) All leukaemia excluding CLL / females
- Fig 3.7 Standardized (world standard) leukaemia incidence rates (per 100 000) over the three study periods
 - a) All leukaemia / males & females
 - b) All leukaemia excluding CLL / males & females
- Fig 3.8 Standardized (world standard) leukaemia incidence rates (per 100 000) in children (boys and girls) over the three study periods

- Fig 3.9 Age-specific incidence rates (per 100 000) with 95% CI's over the entire study period (1980-1998)
 - a) All leukaemia / males
 - b) All leukaemia / females
 - c) All leukaemia excluding CLL / males
 - d) All leukaemia excluding CLL / females
- Fig A2.1 Verification Card for Leukaemia Cases

LIST OF TABLES

- Tab 2.1Radionuclides deposited on the territory of Russia after the Chernobyl accident
- Tab 2.2Settlements of the Bryansk and the Kaluga oblasts with a mean ¹³⁷Cs
contamination density above 37 kBq/m² and the integrated mean cumulative
effective dose (mSv) of internal and external exposure received by adults (1986
to December 31, 1995)
- Tab 2.3Cumulative effective doses and mean cumulative effective doses due to
Chernobyl for 1986-1995 in the study cohorts
- Tab 2.4Population (in 1 000) in the three groups of rayons under study at the two
censuses (1979 and 1989) and in 1998
- Tab 2.5Primary documents involved in the process of leukaemia registration
- Tab 2.6
 Other documents consulted in the ascertainment and verification process
- Tab 2.7
 Process of ascertainment and verification of leukaemia cases
- Tab 2.8Results of ascertainment and verification of leukaemia cases in the different
study regions
- Tab 2.9Sources of and grounds for inclusion of leukaemia cases in the database
- Tab 2.10Results of case ascertainment and of data verification together with reasons for
the exclusion of cases
- Tab 2.11Reasons for exclusion of leukaemia cases due to mistakes
- Tab 3.1Distribution of cases by period
- Tab 3.2Distribution of cases by age
- Tab 3.3Estimation of attributable risks of leukaemia
- Tab 3.4Age-specific incidence rates (per 100 000) with 95% CI's over the entire study
period (1980-1998)
- Tab 4.1Doses due to various sources of ionizing radiation
- Tab A2.1Sources used for verification of data in the Bryansk and the Kaluga oblasts
- Tab A2.2Leukaemia cases by subtypes and periods in the rayons under study (adults)
- Tab A2.3Leukaemia cases by subtypes and periods in the rayons under study (children)
- Tab A2.4Leukaemia cases by subtypes and periods in the rayons under study (all cases)
- Tab A2.5Leukaemia cases by subtypes for the entire period (1980-1998) in the three
rayons under study (all cases)

1. INTRODUCTION

Leukaemia, especially the acute types predominant in children, may be caused by ionizing radiation. The large scale epidemiological studies of the cohort that had been exposed in Hiroshima and Nagasaki (Life Span Study) show a significantly increased risk of leukaemia among the survivors [TOM 93]. Altogether, 290 cases of leukaemia were observed between 1950 and the end of 1987 among 93 696 survivors accounting for 2 778 000 person years [PRE 94]. A dose could be attributed to 231 of the 290 cases. Of the 231 cases taken into the analysis, 75 cases were estimated to be due to the radiation [PRE 94]. This induction of tumours of the haematopoetic system is the most important stochastic health effect even at low radiation doses [SHI 95, PIE 96].

The relative risk (RR) of leukaemia (ALL, AML and CML – no increase of CLL has been observed in Japan) at 1 Sievert is 6.13, as compared to a RR of all solid tumours at 1 Sievert of 1.63. The relative risks at 1 Sievert for the different types of leukaemia vary from 4.3 (AML) to 7.2 (CML) and 10.1 (ALL) [PRE 94, THO 94]. The *excess* relative risk of leukaemia at 1 Sievert (ERR_{1Sv} 5.13) is 8.14 times the excess relative risk of all solid tumours at 1 Sievert (ERR_{1Sv} 0.63) [PRE 94]. This risk induction is detectable for doses of 200 mSv or more [DOL 98], whereas the risk at lower doses is disputable, but may be present from as little as 50 – 100 mSv [PIE 96]. The general pattern of cancer incidence in the exposed Japanese cohort showed men to have higher relative risks than women and the risks tended to be higher for those exposed at younger ages [PRE 94]. A British study of children whose mothers had been x-rayed during pregnancy found that the leukaemia risk up to the age of 15 was 40% above the spontaneous rate even at doses of 10-20 mSv [STE 56].

Due to problems with case ascertainment and the determination of population size in Hiroshima and Nagasaki it is impossible to compute risk estimates for leukaemia for the years before 1948 [PRE 94]. When the Life Span Study cohort was first established in 1950, however, an increase of leukaemia was evident and peaked in the period 1950-1953 [SHI 95]. Estimates on leukaemia incidence in the years 1948-1950, however, already show an increase in incidence rates which are based on untyped cases obtained from the Leukaemia Registry [FOL 52]. An increase of leukaemia incidence may thus be expected after a latency of about two years with the highest risk occurring five to eight years after irradiation [PRE 94], whereas the incidence of solid tumours begins to increase only after a latency of ten years.

Even more than 30 years after the bombings, the incidence rates both of leukaemia (except CLL) and solid tumours among those affected are higher than in the remainder of Japan [PRE 94, THO 94].

1.1. LEUKAEMIA – A SHORT OVERVIEW

1.1.1. DEFINITION

The term *leukaemia* goes back both to Rudolph Virchow and John Bennett who described the predominance of leukocytes in the blood of patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML) as *white blood* first in 1845 [BEN 03, VIR 03]. *Leukaemia* designates several malignant disease entities of the haematopoetic or lymphopoetic system with uncontrolled clonal proliferation and/or altered pathways of apoptosis at distinct stages of haematopoesis.

1.1.2. CLASSIFICATION

Acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) and acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) are clonal disorders of early myeloid or lymphoid precursors. ALL can be distinguished immunologically into B-cell or T-cell precursors of different stages of differentiation. There are different prognostic subgroups according at least partly to certain cytogenetic alterations.

AML can be classified morphologically into 6 different types. However, there are several known cytogenetic aberrations in AML which are prognostically more important than the morphological subtype. AML with balanced translocations (e.g. t(15;17), t(8;21)) belongs to the low risk group concerning a relapse after therapy, whereas AML with complex karyotypes with gain or loss of chromosomal material is prognostically unfavourable. Generally, AML is classified into primary and secondary forms. AML occurring after chemo- or radiotherapy or in the course of myelodysplastic syndromes is defined as secondary leukaemia. Radiation-associated Leukaemia shows complex karyotypes more frequently than leukaemia after chemotherapy and therefore has a worse prognosis. Whether AML which was induced as a consequence of a nuclear accident belongs to this risk group remains to be determined.

Chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML) is a clonal disease of an early pluripotent stem cell with a characteristic cytogenetic defect, the Philadelphia chromosome, which is the result of a balanced reciprocal translocation between chromosome 9 and 22. On the molecular level, abl is translocated from chromosome 9 to the breakpoint cluster region (bcr) of chromosome 22. The resulting hybrid gene bcr-abl leads to the expression of a deregulated tyrosinkinase. The consequences of its activity are:

- alteration of adhesion to the bone marrow stroma
- activation of mitogenic signals
- inhibition of apoptosis
- deregulation of inhibitory proteins

This cytogenetic defect appears at such an early stage of haematopoesis that it affects granulopoesis (including eosinophils and basophils), as well as erythropoesis, megakaryopoesis, B-lymphocytes and – in rare events – even T-cells. The bcr-abl rearrangement can then be found in all of these cells. Additional cytogenetic events in the course of the disease lead to its progression, resulting in an accelerated phase and finally a blast crisis [WAT 03].



Fig 1.1 Physiological haematopoesis and point of origin of different types of leukaemia

ω

DIFFERENTIATION

Leukaemic cells in *chronic lymphatic leukaemia* (CLL) appear mostly as morphologically mature B-cells. The stage of differentiation of the neoplastic cells corresponds to a circulating mature but antigen-naive B-cell. These clonal B-cells are immunoincompetent, the proliferation is slow and the survival longer than in normal B-cells. The disease is frequently associated with autoimmune phenomena such as autoimmune haemolysis or immune thrombocytopaenia. The risk of secondary solid tumours is enhanced compared with normal controls. Although there are certain cytogenetic alterations associated with a worse prognosis, the course of the disease is generally benign in comparison to the other types of leukaemia [WAT 03].

1.1.3. EPIDEMIOLOGY

Leukaemia incidence rates in children are astonishingly similar throughout the world. The mean annual age-standardized incidence rates in the 28 European registries presented by IARC lie between 3.3/100 000 (Bulgaria) and 5.3/100 000 (Denmark). The risk is slightly higher for boys than for girls. About 75-80% of leukaemia in children is ALL, 20-25% AML. The share of chronic leukaemia does not exceed 2-3%, most of which are of myeloid form [PAR 98]. However, a few cases of CLL are also documented [YOF 90, SON 83]. Acute leukaemia shows a characteristic peak in incidence between the ages of two and five years. The age-specific incidence subsequently declines to about 2/100 000, where it remains stable during childhood and adolescence [DKR 00].

In adults, the distribution of ALL and AML is exactly the opposite as in children: 80% of acute leukaemia type as AML, 20% as ALL. The mean age for incurring AML is 62 years, whereas the incidence of ALL, apart from the peak at age three, remains moderate at about 2/100 000 [IME 98, SEE 03].

Predominant in adults are the chronic forms of leukaemia, CLL and CML, which occur in a ratio of 2:1 respectively. There is a male predominance for both [FIN 92]. The mean incidences in adults are 2-3/100 000 for CLL and 1-1.5/100 000 for CML [IME 94]. Age-specific incidence rates increase with age. This increase starts after the age of 40 and the acceleration is about twice the rate in CLL than in CML [SEE 03]. Figure 1.2 shows the age-specific incidence rates for all leukaemia and for the different forms separately.

Despite their incurability, the overall prognosis is best for chronic leukaemia. The median survival of patients with CLL is more than five years [TEF 92], based on a survival between 2 (stage III) and 13 (stage 0) years depending on the stage [RAI 90]. Patients with de novo CML show a median survival of 3.5 years [COR 95]. For 1985-1989, EUROCARE reports weighted age-standardized 5-year survival rates for Europe of 63% (CLL), 31% (CML), 25% (ALL), 10% (AML). Survival had improved compared with 1978-1980 for CLL, AML and ALL, only CML showed little improvement. Poorer survival rates are reported for the Eastern European countries. The relative survival declines with age and this effect is most marked in patients with acute leukaemia. [CAR 98].



*Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results

Fig 1.2 Age-specific incidence rates for leukaemia [SEE 03] (*SEER: Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results). Figure by Elke Nekolla.

1.1.4. RISK FACTORS OTHER THAN RADIATION

Apart from radiation, which has been shown to increase the risk of CML, AML and ALL in various cohorts [LIT 99b, WIC 99] – an influence on CLL is recently also being discussed [LAM 98, LOU 98, GLU 01, IMA 01] – various substances and other factors may have a role in inducing leukaemia.

The past decades have seen remarkable progress in the understanding of the biological features and, consequently, in the therapeutic approaches towards leukaemia. Nevertheless, no one main risk factor has so far been identified. Even the established risk factors often increase the risk only marginally and studies concerning a multitude of possible risk factors show contradictory results. Anyway, under the assumption of a model of tumourgenesis with - at least - one mutation and one promotion [GRE 93b] it is implausible to assume the influence of but one causal factor.

For acute leukaemia, there are a number of established risk factors such as ionizing radiation, certain genetic constellations like Down's syndrome, Ataxia teleangiectasia, Fanconi's anaemia, type I neurofibromatosis, HTLV I (for adult T-cell leukaemia). Other factors are still under discussion: electromagnetic fields, factors associated with the immune system like little early infections or allergies and immunisation (both protective) and chemicals like benzene or pesticides [BEC 02, SCH 02]. As to acute leukaemia in children, the idea that infections might play a role in their induction had been discussed at the beginning of the last century, but was later dismissed. This idea has lately been revived and further developed mainly by two authors. Greaves postulates an initial mutation in a B-precursor cell in-utero, where proliferation is high. One or more further mutation(s) then supposedly take place after birth under the influence of an infectious agent. These mutations are strongly dependent on the type of the agent and the moment of the influence [GRE 93a, GRE 97]. Kinlen proposes an aberrant response model in which an infection with some known ubiquitous virus takes place early in childhood or even in-utero and - as a very rare event - induces leukaemia. This is especially believed to be true for formerly secluded populations which now undergo population mixing [ALE 93, KIN 95, MAC 92].

Even less is known about the aetiology of chronic leukaemia. CLL shows a genetic component: there is a known familial risk as well as an increased risk in persons with trisomie 12 [WIE 01] and incidence among Asians is very low [FIN 92]. Studies concerning the influence of electromagnetic fields [FLO 93], benzene, pesticides and solvents remain contradictory [ZHE 02, ADA 99, RAA 96, FIN 92]. Only a viral aetiology is undisputed for certain types of chronic T-cell leukaemia which are known to be associated with HTLV I and possibly HTLV II [FIN 92].

For CML, there is a greater incidence in Blacks than in Whites, yet otherwise little evidence for a strong genetic component [FIN 92]. Benzene is widely accepted as a causative factor, but results in different studies are not entirely consistent [NOR 97, YIN 96]. The same applies to organic solvents and electromagnetic fields [BJO 01]. Similar to AML, there may be an increased risk of CML after chemotherapy, but further studies are required on this topic [BAU 02].

1.2. SITUATION AFTER THE CHERNOBYL NUCLEAR POWER PLANT ACCIDENT

The accident in the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant in Northern Ukraine that occurred on 26 April 1986 was the largest accident so far in the history of civil use of atomic energy. The accident and the subsequent fire in the reactor led to the release of large amounts of radioactive materials with an activity of 12 Exabecquerel (10¹⁸ Becquerel). Radionuclides such as ¹³¹Iodine, ¹³⁴Caesium, ¹³⁷Caesium were dispersed over large parts of Europe depending on the wind and precipitation conditions. The most highly contaminated regions are in Belarus, the Western parts of Russia and the Northern Ukraine. The population in these regions is subject to persisting external exposure as well as internal exposure through radioactive foodstuffs. About 6.7 million people live in regions with levels of ground contamination with radiocaesium of 37 000 Bq/m² or more at the time of the accident, 1.4 million of which live in regions with levels of ground contamination of 185 000 Bq/m² or more, one fifth to one sixth are children under the age of 15.

There are two different kinds of exposure situations that need to be considered separately in the assessment of the long-term health effects of the Chernobyl accident:

The very large releases of short-lived radioiodine led to high doses in the thyroid gland. Prophylactic intake of stable iodine in the first days after the accident was not made available to the population in the immediately affected regions. Since the doses were accumulated in the first days and weeks after the accident, there was no possibility of subsequent remedial action. Consequently, a dramatic increase in thyroid carcinomas, especially in those who were children at the time, was later observed [RAR 99]. This is the one grave health effect directly due to the Chernobyl reactor accident.

Long-lived radioactivity, mainly from radiocaesium, led to continued low dose rate exposure of the inhabitants of the affected regions. This long-term exposure of large groups of the population was the major aspect that led to evacuations, restrictions in food production and consumption, and to general disruption. It remains an important issue in public health policy and public opinion. Persisting grave apprehensions are still focused on the continued exposure to radiation and on possible increases of cancer incidence, of hereditary defects and congenital malformations and - at least in the collective perception – even of general morbidity.

A lack of verifiable and comparable data and scientific publications makes the assessment of health effects in Belarus, Russia and the Ukraine due to the continued low radiation exposure after the Chernobyl accident very difficult. Particularly disastrous was the restrictive information policy of the Soviet government in the years following the accident: scarce and contradictory information led to misinformation and an overwhelming feeling of helplessness among the affected population who now tend to mistrust all information from official sources. To date, a distorted picture of real or supposed risks is often presented in the Western and Eastern press as well as in international scientific journals [e.g. PET 96 in *Nature*], which leads to further uncertainty: many of the affected persons now attribute any illness or unwellness to the radiation. The unresolved questions and remaining uncertainties have evoked continuous stress among the affected population in the living conditions and the quality of life in the affected regions. It is necessary to investigate further in order to provide reliable information as a basis for remedial action and effective counter-measures wherever these may be required.

1.3. STUDY FRAMEWORK AND TIMETABLE

In view of this situation, the German and French Ministers of the Environment, Angela Merkel and Corinne Lepage initiated the German-French Initiative for Chernobyl (GFI). The initiative comprises projects in the fields of

- safety of the sarcophagus
- radioecology
- health effects

The programme is being financed by the governments as well as by German and French electric power companies, Electricité de France (EDF) and Verband der Elektrizitätswerke (VDEW), with an overall budget of approximately 6 million Euro.

The main purpose of the GFI is to assist in the collection and validation of the existing data in the three most highly contaminated countries, Belarus, Russia and the Ukraine, to constitute a reliable and objective basis of information useful to the planning of countermeasures, for informing the public, and for future scientific work. In the health effects projects, the main aim is to obtain comparable data from the three countries using similar methodologies. It is essential that the data be of continuously high quality in order to allow a joint analysis. This will increase the power of the studies and thus the probability of obtaining reliable results.

The German Company for Plant and Reactor Safety (Gesellschaft für Reaktorsicherheit, GRS) is responsible for carrying out the GFI on the German side with the exception of the health effects projects – altogether eleven – which have been planned and implemented by the Radiobiological Institute of the University of Munich.

The data of the present thesis were obtained within the framework of subproject 3.2.4.: *Leukaemia Incidence Among Children and Adults in the Most Highly Contaminated Territories of Russia*, which started in April 1999 and ended as scheduled after three years in March 2002.

1.4. STUDY GOAL AND TECHNIQUE

The South-western parts of the Russian Federation, especially parts of the Bryansk and Kaluga oblasts, were contaminated due to the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant accident.

The objective of this study is to investigate whether there has been an increase in the incidence of leukaemia in the general population of these regions and whether and how such a possible increase may be linked to the radiation factor. To this end, a prospective cohort study with a control group was carried out for the years 1980 to 1998.

Cancer cases in the Soviet Union were registered in centralized, population-based cancer registries. The same applies to the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) from December 1991. The data that form the basis of this study were taken from the statistics departments of the oncological dispensaries of the Bryansk and Kaluga oblasts. They were ascertained, verified and validated together with the Radiobiological Institute of the University of Munich (LMU).

All cases of leukaemia that occurred between 1980 and 1998 in the affected regions of Russia (five rayons of the Bryansk oblast and 3 rayons of the Kaluga oblast) and the complete data from a neighbouring control region (3 rayons of the Kaluga oblast) - altogether 333 cases – are included in the analysis.

The main questions addressed in the present study are the following:

- are the data complete and of sufficiently high quality?
- is there a continuous documentation or an indication of an expectation or detection bias?
- what are the strengths and the limitations of the study?
- what are the estimated attributable risks of leukaemia in the study cohort and would these hypothetical cases be detectable against the fluctuation of the baseline cases?
- are the incidence rates in the population of the contaminated rayons similar to those of the populations in the control rayons?
- is there a secular trend in the incidence rates in the population of the contaminated rayons and, if so, are the rates after the accident considerably higher than before?
- are the results in line with the radiobiological experience or do they contradict the present risk co-efficients for radiation [UNS 94]?
- are the findings relevant in view of a public health approach and what do they imply?

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. DEFINITION OF THE STUDY PERIOD

The study period was chosen to be 1980 - 1998, allowing a sufficiently realistic picture of the leukaemia incidence in the years before the accident to be achieved. It is further divided into three periods for various reasons:

Pooled time periods provide larger sample sizes and therefore higher power for the analysis of a possible secular trend. In view of this it is advantageous to divide the period in a way that produces approximately equal sample sizes.

Furthermore, both a possible expectation as well as a detection bias could be revealed only if a minimum of two consecutive post-accident periods were analysed. Both biases would lead to elevated incidence rates directly after the accident and a subsequent decrease. In the case of an expectation bias the incidence rates would simply return to the pre-accident level. In the case of a detection bias the rates would fall below the pre-accident rates after the initial increase before returning to the actual level.

Last, but not least, the time pattern of leukaemia occurrence after irradiation [SHI 95] proposes a division into an earlier and a later post-accident period: an increase in the incidence of leukaemia (excluding CLL) after irradiation can be observed after a latent period of about two years [PRE 94] with a peak of radiation-induced leukaemia occurring about five to eight years after irradiation [SHI 95].

Considering all of the above, it seemed suitable to choose the periods as follows:

- a pre-accident period (1980–1986)
- an early post-accident period (1987-1992)
- a late post-accident period (1993-1997)

2.2. RADIOLOGICAL SITUATION

2.2.1. CONTAMINATION

The Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant accident on 26 April 1986 was the largest accident in the civil use of atomic energy. It led to the contamination of vast territories of Europe, especially of the former Soviet Union, and Scandinavia.

The contamination of Russia started on 28 April 1986 when north-easterly winds blew the radioactive cloud over from the Ukraine. Due to the intensive rainfalls (10 mm/h) over the boundary between the Mogilev and Gomel oblasts of Belarus and the Bryansk oblast of Russia on 28-29 April 1986 the large Bryansk-Belarus spot was formed. The rain washed out radionuclides from the radioactive cloud. This increased the speed of deposits of radionuclides on the soil leading to uneven, in some places high levels of contamination in the Bryansk and Kaluga oblasts.

The radioactive cloud remained over the south-western rayons of the Bryansk oblast for 13 hours from the afternoon of 28 April until 7 a.m. of 29 April 1986. It moved on to the east in the direction of Tula city and covered the territory of southern rayons of Kaluga oblast. The maximum level of radioactive contamination of the Tula-Kaluga-Oriol spot was lower by an order of magnitude compared to that of the Bryansk-Belarus spot. This is assumed to be due to an expansion of the cloud and its exhaustion after the previous deposits.

The level of exposure of the population of the three oblasts to radiation - especially in 1986 – was taken into account by the national and local authorities when decisions concerning radiation protection were made. These decisions were based on information from intensive radiation surveillance carried out from May 1986 by central and local bodies and institutions affiliated to the Goskomgidromet of the USSR (State Committee of Hydrometeorology of the USSR), the Ministry of Public Health of the Russian Federation and Gosagroprom (State Committee of Agricultural Industry).

Detailed maps based on the official data [MER 96] of the average density of ¹³⁷Cs contamination of the Bryansk and the Kaluga oblasts are given in figs. 2.1-2.2.



Fig 2.1 Official average density of ¹³⁷Cs contamination f the Bryansk oblast [MER 96]



Fig 2.2 Official average density of ¹³⁷Cs contamination in the Kaluga oblast [MER 96]

2.2.2. DOSES RECEIVED BY THE POPULATION

From the beginning of radioactive fall-out, the population was exposed externally and internally to a mixture of various products of fission and activation. Radioisotopes of iodine and caesium, as well as of strontium and plutonium, were the most significant contributors. Radiation monitoring was designed to estimate the density of soil contamination with long-lived radionuclides, such as ¹³⁷Cs, ⁹⁰Sr and isotopes of plutonium, in the settlements and surrounding territories; air concentration was measured as well. Radionuclide composition was studied, exposition dose rate from γ -radiation was measured, foodstuffs and water were tested for radionuclides, and whole body counts were performed. All this information allowed an estimation of the current annual doses to the population. However, it was very difficult to estimate radiation doses accumulated during the first year after the accident. At that time dozens of radionuclides with different radiological properties contributed to the dosimetry. The temporal changes of the radiation situation were rapid and depended on local environmental and social conditions.

Table 2.1 compiles some important characteristics of the radionuclides which reached the territory of the Russian Federation as a result of atmospheric transfer.

| Radionuclide | | | Period of | half-life | Final stable | |
|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| Mother (m) | Type of radiation | Daughter (d) | Type of radiation | T _{mother} | T _{daughter} | isotope |
| ¹³⁷ Cs | β | ^{137m} Ba | β+γ | 30.2 years | 156 seconds | ¹³⁷ Ba |
| ¹³⁶ Cs | β+γ | _ | _ | 13.1 days | _ | ¹³⁶ Ba |
| ¹³⁴ Cs | β+γ | _ | _ | 2.1 years | _ | ¹³⁴ Ba |
| ⁸⁹ Sr | β | _ | _ | 53.6 days | _ | ⁸⁹ Y |
| ⁹⁰ Sr | β | ⁹⁰ Y | β+γ | 28 years | 64.3 hours | ⁹⁰ Zr |
| ¹³¹ I | β+γ | _ | _ | 8.0 days | _ | ¹³¹ Xe |
| ¹³² Te | β+γ | ¹³² I | β+γ | 3.3 days | 2.3 hours | ¹³² Xe |
| ¹³³ I | β+γ | ¹³³ Xe | β+γ | 0.9 days | 5.3 days | ¹³³ Cs |
| ¹⁴⁰ Ba | β+γ | ¹⁴⁰ La | β+γ | 12.7 days | 1.7 days | ¹⁴⁰ Ce |
| ⁹⁵ Zr | β+γ | ⁹⁵ Nb | β+γ | 64.0 days | 35.2 days | ⁹⁵ Mo |
| ¹⁰³ Ru | β+γ | ^{103m} Rh | β+γ | 39.3 days | 0.9 hours | ¹⁰³ Rh |
| ¹⁰⁶ Ru | β | ¹⁰⁶ Rh | β+γ | 1.0 years | 3 seconds | ¹⁰⁶ Pd |
| ¹⁴¹ Ce | β+γ | _ | _ | 32.5 days | _ | 141 Pr |
| ¹⁴³ Ce | β+γ | ¹⁴³ Pr | β+γ | 1.4 days | 13.6 days | ¹⁴³ Nd |
| ¹⁴⁴ Ce | β+γ | ¹⁴⁴ Pr | β+γ | 0.8 years | 0.3 hours | ¹⁴⁴ Nd |
| ¹²⁵ Sb | β+γ | ^{125m} Te | β+γ | 2.8 years | 58.0 days | ¹²⁵ Te |
| ⁹⁹ Mo | β+γ | ^{99m} Tc | β+γ | 2.8 days | 6.0 hours | ⁹⁹ Ru |

Table 2.1 Radionuclides deposited on the territory of Russia after the Chernobyl accident

Radionuclides with a half-life of less than one month decayed completely during the first year after the accident. Since the level of contamination of the soil with long-lived radioisotopes such as ⁹⁵Zr+⁹⁵Nb, ¹⁰⁶Ru+¹⁰⁶Rh, ¹⁴⁴Ce+¹⁴⁴Pr and ¹²⁵Sb was low, their contribution to the radiological situation after April 1987 is negligible.

For 5-7 years from April 1987, the main contributors to radioactive contamination of the territory were ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³⁴Cs. Whereas the contribution of ¹³⁴Cs to radioactive contamination decreased rapidly, the situation at present is determined by ¹³⁷Cs-contamination of the soil and environment (figs. 2.1 and 2.2).

To estimate radiation risks of leukaemia, effective doses both from internal and external exposure to the whole body should be accounted for. The procedure for estimation of the above doses was developed in Russia in 1996 by specialists of the Institute of Radiation Hygiene of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation (St.-Petersburg), the Medical Radiological Research Centre of the Russian Academy of Medical Sciences, the Institute of Biophysics of the State Research Centre of the Russian Federation, and the Scientific and Productive Association Taifoon of Rosgydromet. Their findings are documented as *Reconstruction of the Mean Effective Dose (accumulated for 1986-1995) to the Population of the Settlements of the Russian Federation Affected by Radioactive Contamination as a Result of the Accident at the Chernobyl NPP [MER 96].*

Based on these methodological recommendations, official data on the mean effective doses from external and internal exposure to the whole body of residents of the settlements of the Bryansk and Kaluga oblasts were estimated. The results of these estimations were discussed and adopted at the session of the Russian Scientific Commission on Radiation Protection in 1996.

About 90% of the total additional doses following the Chernobyl catastrophe were accumulated in the ten years from 1986 - 1995. The mean cumulative effective doses over 9.7 years were calculated for the population of 1 091 contaminated settlements (soil contamination over 37 kBq/m²) of the Bryansk oblast and 404 contaminated settlements of the Kaluga oblast. Estimates of the mean cumulative doses received by the residents of these settlements in the Bryansk oblast are within the range of 4-167 mSv, for the residents of these settlements in the Kaluga oblast within the range of 1.4-25 mSv. The mean cumulative effective doses are given in table 2.2.

Table 2.2 Settlements of the Bryansk and the Kaluga oblasts with mean ¹³⁷Cs contamination density above 37 kBq/m² and the integrated mean cumulative effective dose (mSv) of internal and external exposure received by adults (1986 to December 31, 1995)

| Range of the mean cur (ms | nulative effective dose Sv) | Number of | Percentage (%) |
|------------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|
| Lower limit | Upper limit | settiements | |
| The entire Bryansk obl | ast : 1 091 settlements; n | nean cumulative effective | e dose 23.5 ± 19.2 mSv |
| 3 | 4 | 2 | 0.2 |
| 4 | 5 | 40 | 3.7 |
| 5 | 7 | 110 | 10.1 |
| 7 | 10 | 148 | 13.6 |
| 10 | 15 | 201 | 18.4 |
| 15 | 20 | 118 | 10.8 |
| 20 | 25 | 95 | 8.7 |
| 25 | 30 | 84 | 7.7 |
| 30 | 40 | 101 | 9.3 |
| 40 50 | | 86 | |
| 50 70 | | 81 | 7.4 |
| 70 100 | | 15 | 1.4 |
| 100 | 150 | 10 | 0.9 |
| 150 200 | | I | 0.1 |
| The entire Kaluga o | blast: 404 settlements; m | ean cumulative effective | dose 6.3 ± 4.9 mSv |
| 1 | 2 | 57 | 14.1 |
| 2 | 3 | 83 | 20.5 |
| 3 4 | | 50 | 12.4 |
| 4 5 | | 36 | 8.9 |
| 5 7 | | 38 | 9.4 |
| 7 10 | | 52 | 12.9 |
| 10 15 | | 62 | 15.3 |
| 15 | 20 | 20 | 5.0 |
| 20 | 25 | 6 | 1.5 |

2.3. ESTABLISHMENT AND FEATURES OF THE STUDY COHORTS

Unfortunately for the purpose of this study, it was not possible to establish study cohorts on the basis of the population of settlements with similar contamination levels. This is due to the lack of reliable population data on the settlement level. It was thus necessary to resort to the rayon level, where sufficiently accurate population statistics can be obtained.

To establish the study cohorts, three groups of rayons were formed according to the prevailing levels of ground contamination:

| highly contaminated: | Gordeevsky, Novozybkovsky | Zlynkovsk rayons of th | y, Klintsovs ne Bryansk oblas | sky, st; | Krasno | gorsky, |
|------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------|--------|---------|
| slightly contaminated: | Zhizdrinsky, Ul oblast; | ianovsky, k | Khvastovichsky | rayons | of the | Kaluga |
| control: | Baryatino, Baby | nino, Taruss | a rayons of the l | Kaluga o | blast. | |

The group of highly contaminated rayons includes the five most highly contaminated rayons of the Bryansk oblast, where the mean density of soil contamination with ¹³⁷Cs was higher

than 400 kBq/m² at the time of the accident. The group of slightly contaminated study rayons includes three rayons of the Kaluga oblast, where the mean density of soil contamination with ¹³⁷Cs was 90 - 200 kBq/m² at the time of the accident. Almost all rayons of the Bryansk and Kaluga oblasts are contaminated with radionuclides after the Chernobyl accident, but at substantially different levels. Three rayons of the Kaluga oblast which were contaminated with less than 25 kBq/m² at the time of the accident serve as control rayons.

2.3.1. Doses received by the study cohorts

The effective cumulative doses between 1986 and 1995 received by the study cohorts (highly contaminated, slightly contaminated and control) varies by more than two orders of magnitude. The actual doses are given in table 2.3.

| RAYONS | Mean cumulative effective dose (mSv) due to Chernobyl over 10 years (1986-1995) | Mean annual cumulative effective dose (mSv) due to Chernobyl during 1986- 1995 | Cumulative effective dose (person Sv) due to Chernobyl 1986-1995 | Mean annual population (in 1 000) 1986-1995 |
|----------------------|---|--|---|--|
| Highly contaminated | 22.9 | 2.29 | 5 098 | 222.6 |
| Slightly contaminat. | 7.4 | 0.74 | 343 | 46.2 |
| Control | 0.35 | 0.035 | 15 | 42.2 |

| Table 2.3 | Cumulative | effective | doses | and | mean | cumulative | effective | doses | due | to |
|-----------|--------------|------------|----------|--------|---------|------------|-----------|-------|-----|----|
| | Chernobyl fo | or 1986-19 | 95 in th | e stuc | dy coho | orts | | | | |

2.3.2. DEMOGRAPHIC FEATURES OF THE POPULATION IN THE STUDY AREAS

Demographic data on the age and sex structure of the population of the rayons under study were contributed by the Oblast Statistics Committee (Oblkomstat) on the basis of the censuses in 1979 and 1989. Table 2.4 gives the population at both censuses and in 1998.

Table 2.4 Population (in 1 000) in the three groups of rayons under study at the two censuses (1979 and 1989) and in 1998

| RAYONS | 1979 | 1989 | 1998 | Difference 1979-1998 (in % of 1979) |
|----------------------|-------|-------|-------|---|
| Highly contaminated | 243.4 | 227.7 | 208.7 | - 14.3 |
| Slightly contaminat. | 57.4 | 42.4 | 38.7 | - 32.6 |
| Control | 39.9 | 39.1 | 47.6 | + 19.3 |

The change in population size clearly exceeds the effect of a change in birth rate. This is also evident when assessing the demographic structure of the different populations (fig 2.3). The changes in the study regions must therefore be partly due to migration. Unfortunately, it is difficult to obtain detailed information on migration on the rayon level, especially where the

Migration may be compulsory or chosen, even if it is an official resettlement of inhabitants of some highly contaminated areas by the local (oblast) authorities. The compulsory resettlement concerns only extremely highly contaminated areas and mostly happened fairly shortly after the accident, before high individual doses had been accumulated. Since any type of official resettlement took place within the same oblast or even within the same rayon, the population increase in the control rayons in the Kaluga oblast cannot be due to people officially resettled from the extremely highly contaminated areas in the Bryansk oblast. Due to much lower contamination, there was no compulsory resettlement at all in the Kaluga oblast. People migrating from the slightly contaminated study rayons (which are all located in the Kaluga oblast) to the control rayons in the Kaluga oblast might account for some of the population increase in the control rayons [KOR 03]. Their radiation risk, however, is so low (cf. 3.2.) that it is negligible in view of the remainder of the control cohort.

People may also migrate on their own accord for various reasons not directly linked to the radiation, i.e. for economic reasons or simply because they have family in other places, for example in Moscow [KOR 03]. These people would not necessarily be those with the highest risks. Since this type of migration would have occurred similarly in the highly contaminated and the slightly contaminated rayons, it would lead to non-differential misclassification.

For the above stated reasons, any migration might lead to a slight underestimation of the risk in the highly contaminated rayons in the worst case, but would not result in an overestimation of the risk in the control rayons.

Figure 2.3 illustrates that the sex and age structure of the three groups of rayons under study are comparable. The most striking feature is the dramatic decrease of the youngest age group (children 0-4years) between 1989 and 1998.



Fig 2.3 Demographic structure: share (%) of each 5-year age group in relation to the entire (male & female) population, the highest age group being 70+

2.4. TECHNIQUES OF ASCERTAINMENT AND VERIFICATION OF LEUKAEMIA CASES

The algorithm of the collection of leukaemia cases and of the verification of the diagnosis was elaborated by the staff of the *Russian Medical and Dosimetric Registry* in Obninsk. It is based on the cancer care and registration system of the former Soviet Union (fig 2.4).



→ AUTHORITY TO ISSUE DIRECTIVES

Graphic: Susanne Becker

Fig 2.4 Cancer care and registration system of the former Soviet Union

The system of cancer care and registration that was in use in the former Soviet Union worked separately from the general health care system, but was structured analogously. The structure of this system has been conserved to the present day. The formation is strictly hierarchical, paralleling the administrative structures from the lowest level of the Uchastok - which exists only in the medical field – up to the level of the Republic. The resulting registries are population-based because the entire health care process is tied to the place of residence of the patient. The health care institutions are responsible for disease prevention and screening, diagnosis and therapy as well as for the registration of specific diseases.

The basic institution in which cancer patients are diagnosed and treated is the oblast oncological dispensary (OOD). Here all relevant medical and statistical information is stored in the archives.

The starting point of the collection and verification process thus is the OOD. Nevertheless, it sometimes involves medical institutions at the district level (in towns or in the country). This is due to some peculiarities of the leukaemia diagnosis, treatment and registration process in Russia, namely that the registration is covered by the OODs, whereas the diagnosis and treatment of leukaemia patients, as a rule, is performed in specialized haematological departments, possibly even in other oblasts than the patients' residence. Patients might thus not be in ,their' population-based registry, so that the case has to be ascertained at the institution in question.

The routine documents for the diagnostic, therapeutic and registration process of solid cancers, leukaemia and lymphomas which are officially approved by the Ministry of Health are listed in tables 2.5 and 2.6. They form the basis for the collection of cases and the verification of diagnoses in this study. Table 2.5 gives the primary documents used in the Oblast Oncological Dispensary as well as in all in- and out-patient facilities. Further documents used in (specialized) medical institutions are given in table 2.6.

| DOCUMENT TYPE | OFFICIAL FORM № | INSTITUTION | INFORMATION TRANSMITTED/ RECORDED |
|--|--------------------|--|---|
| 1. PRIMARY | DOCUMENTS O | F THE CANCER REGISTRATI | ON PROCESS |
| 1.1 Notification of a cancer case diagnosed for the first time | 090/u | all general and specialized in- and out-patients departments notify the cancer registry at the Oblast Oncological Dispensary (OOD) | notification of a newly diagnosed cancer case |
| 1.2 Extract short extract from the medical history or the out- patient card | 027-1/u | all medical institutions in which cancer is diagnosed and treated notify the cancer registry at the OOD | notification following diagnosis & treatment |
| 1.3 Control Card control card for the follow-up of cancer patients at the oncological dispensary | 030-5/u | the cancer registration department at the OOD | the Control Card is established when a new case is registered and is then regularly up-dated. Multiple primaries are registered on one Control Card. No Control Card exists for DCO-cases, Control Cards of deceased patients are removed from the database |
| 1.4 Protocol | 027-2/u | all institutions in which cancer is diagnosed; 2 copies: one copy for the OOD, the other remains in the archives of the issuing institution | reasons for late diagnosis in case of detection of a cancer case at an advanced stage |
| | 2. PRIMARY | Y MEDICAL DOCUMENTS | |
| 2.1 Out-patient Card medical card of the out- patient | 025/u | all out-patient facilities | lifetime out-patient record |
| 2.2 Medical History | 003/u | all in-patient facilities | medical history for each single admission |
| 2.3 Epicrisis detailed extract from the medical history | 027-2/u | all in-patient facilities | summary of diagnosis & treatment |
| | 3. Admini | STRATIVE DOCUMENTS | |
| 3.1 Certificate of death | 106/u | all medical doctors, for submission to the vital statistics departments (ZAGS) | date, cause and place of death as well as the place of official registration |

Table 2.5 Primary documents involved in the process of leukaemia registration

| DOCUMENT TYPE | INSTITUTION | INFORMATION RECORDED | |
|---|---|---|--|
| 1. Doc | CUMENTS OF CANCER REGIS | TRATION | |
| 1.5 Electronic cancer registry | OOD | name, first name, year of birth, address, diagnosis, date of registration | |
| 1.6 List of initially diagnosed cancer patients | OOD | name, first name, year of birth, address, diagnosis, date of registration | |
| 1.7 Journal of initially diagnosed cancer patients | Oncological Cabinet at the Central Rayon Clinic | name, first name, year of birth, address, diagnosis, date of registration | |
| 1.8 Journal of deaths of cancer patients | Oncological Cabinet at the Central Rayon Clinic | name, first name, year of birth , address, diagnosis, date of death | |
| | 2. MEDICAL DOCUMENTS | 3 | |
| 2.4 Journal of myelograms & cytochemical analyses | Clinical – Diagnostic Laboratories of the Oblast Clinic (OC) & the Paediatric Oblast Clinic (POC) | name, first name, department, date and results of the analysis | |
| 2.5 Journal of biopsies of bone marrow or lymphatic nodes | Patho-Anatomical Laboratory of the OC & the POC | name, first name, department, date and results of the analysis | |
| 2.6 Medical comment | consulting out-patient departments | diagnosis, state at the moment of consultation, recommended therapy of the consulting haematologist | |
| 2.7 Protocol of autopsy | Patho-Anatomical Laboratory of the OC & the POC | name, first name, department, date and result of the autopsy | |

Table 2.6 Other documents consulted in the ascertainment and verification process

This entire complex of accessible documents in the various medical institutions from the rayon to the oblast level allowed a complete collection of possible information on the leukaemia cases. The algorithm that was followed in the data collection is given in table 2.7.

Details of the collection and verification of leukaemia cases are described in the annexe. In the process of the quality assessment of the data pertaining to every case the information was recorded in a special form, the *Verification Card of the Leukaemia Patient* (Annexe 2, figure A2.1).

| TASKS | SOURCES OF INFORMATION | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| STAGE I Oblast Oncological Dispensary | | | | |
| Comparison of data entered into the database with primary data for the following items: 1) correctness and completeness of diagnosis 2) verification of dates 3) agreement between clinical and histological diagnosis Search for cases absent in the database (db) Elimination of unconfirmed cases from the database | Notification of cancer cases (1.1)* Extract from medical history (1.2)* Control card (1.3)* Electronic database of the OOD (1.5)* Journal of deceased cancer patients (1.7)* Out-patient Card (2.1)* | | | |
| STAGE II Oblast Clinic Paediatric Oblast Clinic Archives and Registration Office | | | | |
| Verification of recorded diagnoses Search for new cases Elimination of unconfirmed diagnoses | Out-patient Card (2.1)* Medical History (2.2)* Epicrisis (2.3)* Histological Archives of the Clinical-Diagnostic and Patho-Anatomical laboratory at the OC & POC (2.4, 2.5, 2.6)* | | | |
| STAGE III Central Rayon Clinic Archives and Registration Office | | | | |
| Comparison of data entered into the database of the oncological dispensary with primary data from the rayon Verification of recorded diagnosis <i>leukaemia</i> Search for cases absent in the database Elimination of unconfirmed diagnoses | Out-patient Card (2.1.)* Medical History (2.2.)* Journal of the Oncological Cabinet (1.7, 1.8)* Archive of the ZAGS (3.1)* | | | |

Table 2.7 Process of ascertainment and verification of leukaemia cases

* the figures in brackets refer to tables 2.5 and 2.6.

2.5. RESULTS OF ASCERTAINMENT AND VERIFICATION

As a result of the consultation of the official and local registration and medical documents, patients formerly not registered were taken into account. At the same time, cases had to be excluded from the analysis because the diagnosis could not be confirmed. These movements in the primary database and the finally resulting database are documented in table 2.8.

2.5.1. REGIONAL DIFFERENCES

The results of the ascertainment and verification of leukaemia cases in the different study regions is presented in table 2.8.

| | CASES | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|------|------------------|--------------|------|------------------------------|--|--|
| GROUPS OF RAYONS UNDER STUDY | OOD Data- base | Ascertainment Added | | Interim total | Verification | | Final Project Database | | |
| | | | | | Excluded | | | | |
| | | No | % | | No | % | | | |
| Highly contaminated | 255 | 12 | 4.7 | 267 | 20 | 7.5 | 247 | | |
| Slightly contaminat. | 41 | 6 | 14.6 | 47 | 2 | 4.2 | 45 | | |
| Control | 35 | 18 | 51.4 | 53 | 12 | 22.6 | 41 | | |
| TOTAL | 331 | 36 | 10.9 | 367 | 34 | 9.3 | 333 | | |

Table 2.8 Results of ascertainment and verification of leukaemia cases in the different study regions

331 leukaemia cases had been registered in the original database at the oblast oncological dispensary for the study rayons during the years 1980 – 1998. On scrutinizing the documents of other haematological disorders and cancers as well as of institutions other than those located directly in the study areas, 36 validated cases were added (10.9% of the cases originally registered at the OODs). It should be pointed out that the highest percentage of cases revealed through active registration during this project in relation to the originally registered cases in the database of the Oblast Oncological Dispensary occurred in the control rayons.

The further verification of diagnoses led to the exclusion of 34 cases (9.3% of the new total), leaving 333 cases in the final analysis.

2.5.2. Sources of and grounds for inclusion and reasons for exclusion of cases

A detailed description of the sources of the cases added to the database after case ascertainment and the grounds for their inclusion are given in table 2.9.

| | СА | CASES | |
|---|----|-------|--|
| TOTAL OF CASES INCLUDED | No | % | |
| | 36 | 100 | |
| Source and grounds for inclusion | | | |
| OOD | 21 | 58.4 | |
| date of diagnosis changed | 4 | 11.1 | |
| discovered in other than the study rayons | 2 | 5.6 | |
| revealed in the archives of out-patient cards | 10 | 27.8 | |
| revealed in the main electronic database of all tumours with: | 5 | 13.9 | |
| stomach cancer | 2 | | |
| lymphoma lymphomatoid granulomatosis | 2 | | |
| | 1 | | |
| Oblast Clinic | 11 | 30.6 | |
| haematological department | | | |
| Clinical-Diagnostic Laboratory | 2 | 5.5 | |
| journal of myelograms (2.4)* | | | |
| Oncological Cabinet at the Central Rayon Clinic | | 5.5 | |
| journal of initially diagnosed cancer patients (1.7)* | | | |

Table 2.9 Sources of and grounds for inclusion of leukaemia cases in the database

* the figures in brackets refer to tables 2.5 and 2.6

Nearly 60% of the 36 cases added to the database were discovered in Oblast Oncological Dispensaries – either of the study regions or, in two cases, of neighbouring oblasts. Ten cases of those that were found in the study area had simply not been reported earlier, but were diagnosed and registered correctly in the out-patient cards, whereas nine cases had not been included in the database for faulty information: in four cases the date of diagnosis was incorrect, and in five cases the diagnosis itself proved to be wrong.

Over 40% (fifteen cases) had not been registered at the Oblast Oncological Dispensary at all. They were discovered by searching medical records and archives of other general and specialized medical institutions of the oblast.

An overview of the results of case ascertainment and data verification together with the reasons for the exclusion of cases is presented in table 2.10.

| | CHANCES IN THE DATADASE | | CASES | |
|--------------------|--|---|-------|--|
| | CHANGES IN THE DATABASE | CAS No 331 36 367 34 25 9 333 219 84 65 | % | |
| ASCERTAIN- MENT | Number of cases in the database of the OOD | 331 | 100 | |
| | Added cases | 36 | 10,9 | |
| | Total | 367 | 100 | |
| VERIFICATION | Rejected: | 34 | 9.3 | |
| | due to mistakes of diagnosis | 25 | 6.8 | |
| | due to technical errors (wrong address, duplication of data, diagnosis established before 1980 or after 1998) | 9 | 2.4 | |
| | Accepted cases | 333 | 100 | |
| | Quality of data improved: | 219 | 65.8 | |
| | type of leukaemia recorded more precisely | 84 | 25.2 | |
| | date of birth recorded more precisely | 65 | 19.5 | |
| | date of diagnosis recorded more precisely | 70 | 21.0 | |

Table 2.10 Results of case ascertainment and data verification together with reasons for the exclusion of cases

The database resulting after the inclusion of the 36 cases stated in table 2.9 consisted of 367 cases. Each case was carefully verified which led to the subsequent exclusion of 34 cases. Obviously it was not possible to verify all information in the database - neither for all areas under study nor for all times, especially not for the earlier years for which parts of the documents are not in the archives. The same applies to the bone marrow smears, which have a limited conservation period of five years. A detailed description of the various reasons for exclusion is presented in table 2.11.
| | CASES | | | |
|--|---|-------------|--------------------------|--|
| TOTAL NUMBE | No | % | | |
| | R OF CASES EXCLUDED | 34 | 100 | |
| due to v | wrong diagnoses | 25 | 73.5 | |
| Diagnosis in the database | Correct diagnosis | | | |
| Chronic lympholeukaemia (204.1) Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (200.1) Multiple myeloma (203.0) Lymphogranulomatosis (201) | | 8 7 1 | 47.1 | |
| Chronic erythroleukaemia (207.1) Symptomatic erythraemia (289.0) | | 1 | 2.9 | |
| Chronic leukaemia (208.1) | Aplastic anaemia (284) | 1 | 2.9 | |
| Acute leukaemia (208.0) | Anaemia of uncertain aetiology (285.0) Megaloblastic anaemia (281.0) Death before diagnosis, no autopsy (798.2) | 3 1 2 | 17.7 | |
| Leukaemia (208.9) | Lymphatic node metastasis (196.9) | 1 | 2.9 | |
| due to | technical errors | 9 | 26.5 | |
| Wrong address Duplication of data Diagnosis already established in a region not included in the study Diagnosis established before 1980 or after 1998 | | | 8.8 6.0 2.9 8.8 | |
| | | | 0.0 | |

| Table 2.11 Reasons | for | exclusion | of | leukaemia | cases | due | to | mistakes |
|------------------------|-----|-----------|------|-----------|-------|-----|----|----------|
| 1 4010 2.11 1 10000115 | 101 | exclusion | UI . | reukaemna | cuses | uuc | ιU | mistares |

Most (73.5%) of the cases that had to be excluded from the database had to be discarded due to wrong diagnoses. The most problematic diagnoses were chronic leukaemia, especially CLL, half of which (8 cases) had been misdiagnosed as Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Seven alleged cases of CLL were in fact multiple myeloma but had been miscoded by the technician at the cancer registry.

A detailed description of the verification of diagnoses at all stages is included in Annexe 2.

2.6. Type of study and statistical methods

The study is designed as a prospective population-based cohort study with a control group ('prospective' in that the exposure – in this case the ground contamination – is measured before the disease onset). In view of the negligible radiation risks of the cohort from the slightly contaminated rayons (cf. 3.2), these study rayons are pooled with the control rayons for the analysis to form the combined control rayons (CCR) and thus increase the power of the study.

A descriptive analysis is performed on all the cases:

In a regional analysis, the absolute number of cases as well as the crude and age- and sexstandardized (world standard) rates in the highly contaminated rayons (HCR) are compared to those of the combined control rayons (CCR). 95% Confidence Intervals according to Poisson are given for the crude rates and the χ^2 -test is performed to test for homogeneity of the standardized rates. Age-specific rates over the entire study period are given for the contaminated and the control rayons together with 95% Confidence Intervals according to Poisson.

In a temporal analysis, three study periods (cf. 2.1) are introduced. The resulting increase in power then allows a separate analysis for children (0-14 years) and adults, in which the standardized incidence rates for the three study periods in the contaminated and the control rayons are compared.

When discussing the possibility of detecting a radiation effect in the study rayons, 95% confidence intervals are given for the 703 cases expected in the study cohort over the entire lifetime. They are calculated on the basis of a standard distribution which provides a good approximation of the Poisson distribution for larger numbers.

3. RESULTS

All cases that occurred in the study areas between 1980 and 1998 – altogether 333 - were taken into the analysis.

3.1. ANALYSIS OF DATA QUALITY

3.1.1. DISTRIBUTION OF CASES BY PERIOD

Table 3.1 shows the distribution of the cases by region and three time periods.

| RAYONS | 1980-98 | | 198 | 0-86 | 198 | 7-92 | 1993-98 | |
|----------------|---------|-----|-----|------|-----|------|---------|------|
| | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % |
| Highly cont. | 247 | 100 | 79 | 32,0 | 77 | 31,2 | 91 | 36,8 |
| Slightly cont. | 45 | 100 | 14 | 31,1 | 6 | 13,3 | 25 | 55,6 |
| Control | 41 | 100 | 11 | 26,8 | 13 | 31,7 | 17 | 41,5 |
| Total | 333 | | 104 | | 96 | | 133 | |

Table 3.1 Distribution of cases by period

The cases are evenly distributed only in the highly contaminated rayons. There is an increase in the slightly contaminated and control rayons between the second and the third period by a factor of 2.2 for both types of rayons together. Interestingly this reflects roughly the magnitude of the actual increase in these rayons (cf. the standardized incidence rates, chapter 3.5, fig 3.6). Furthermore, it is improbable that an increase in reporting due to elevated awareness after the Chernobyl accident should occur between the second and the third period. Such an increase, if any, would have been expected in the second period in comparison to the pre-accident period (cf. chapter 2.5.1, table 2.8).

3.1.2. DISTRIBUTION OF CASES BY AGE

The distribution of cases by age in the different regions is given in table 3.2.

| D | 1980-98 | | 1980 | 0-86 | 198 | 7-92 | 1993-98 | |
|----------------|-------------|------------|-------------|------------|-------------|------------|-------------|------------|
| RAYONS | age 0-14 | age 15+ | age 0-14 | age 15+ | age 0-14 | age 15+ | age 0-14 | age 15+ |
| Highly cont. | 27 | 220 | 14 | 65 | 5 | 72 | 8 | 83 |
| Slightly cont. | 3 | 42 | 1 | 13 | 0 | 6 | 2 | 23 |
| Control | 5 | 36 | 0 | 11 | 4 | 9 | 1 | 16 |
| Total | 35 | 298 | 15 | 89 | 9 | 87 | 11 | 122 |

Table 3.2 Distribution of cases by age

Over the entire period and in all the cohorts, 10.5% of the cases occurred in children (0-14 years), 89.5% in adolescents and adults. Due to the very small number of cases in children in the separate cells, a large variation of the corresponding percentages can be expected. The variation diminishes when looking at the different study cohorts over the entire period. The overall pattern is similar to that in other countries [CIN 92, 97]. However, the study rayons are rural areas and it cannot be ruled out that there is an underdetection (rather than an underregistration!) in the elder age groups. If anything, such a possible underdetection might be expected to increase with the deterioration of the public health care system in the 1990s. It must be emphasised that there is no indication of this being a major problem in this study.

3.1.3 DISTRIBUTION OF CASES BY DIAGNOSIS

The pattern of the different types of leukaemia in the study and control regions in the different periods is demonstrated in figs. 3.1 - 3.3. The corresponding data are given in tables A2.2-A2.5 in ANNEXE 2.

The distribution of leukaemia subtypes shows similar patterns regardless of the period, but the share of *leukaemia not otherwise specified* (ICD 9 208.0, 208.1, 208.9) decreases in the later years.

In children (fig. 3.1), most cases are acute lymphoblast leukaemia, as is typical in the remainder of Russia and the World [ALE 88, CIN 97]. Unfortunately no prevalence of different phenotypes or the Philadelphia chromosome (Ph+ or Ph-) in acute lymphoid leukaemia can be given because cytogenetic analysis is scarcely performed. It may be assumed that some of the more aggressive cases were Ph+ as this phenotype is known to be especially resistant to therapy [SCH 98, UCK 99]. One of the 35 cases detected in children was found to be chronic myeloid leukaemia in an eight-year-old boy. CML is an extremely rare disease in children; nevertheless, in this case the diagnosis was undoubtedly correct [FRE 98]. As the atypically high percentage (2.86%) of CML in children in the study regions is due to only this one case it can clearly not be seen as an overdispersion.

In adults (fig 3.2), the pattern of distribution of different leukaemia subtypes is typical of all periods of the study and conforms to the pattern in the remainder of Russia and the World [CIN 97]. 38.8% of all cases in adults were acute leukaemia, 55.2% chronic forms. In 6% of the cases, the form could not be established retrospectively.

The distribution of the different cytological types of leukaemia depends on the age (figs. 3.1, 3.2, ANNEXE 2 table A2.2-A2.3). Neither the distribution of the acute nor of the chronic forms (ANNEXE 2 table A2.5) differ from Russian and international data of the recent years [CIN 97]. Most (85%) of the cases of acute leukaemia in children were lymphoid leukaemia, in adults their share was 37.8% of the acute forms. Among the cases of chronic leukaemia in adults, CML accounted for 34% and CLL for 56%, which is totally in line with international experience [FAJ 80, SCH 93, KRO 95].



Fig 3.1 Different forms of leukaemia in children in the three time periods



Fig 3.2 Different forms of leukaemia in adults in the three time periods



Fig 3.3 Different forms of leukaemia in the different rayons under study in 1980-1998

In recent years scientists came up with the idea that some forms of CLL might be inducible by radiation, especially leukaemia stemming from large granular lymphocytes of the phenotype of natural killer cells [GLU 01, IMA 01, LAM 98, LOU 98, IMA 90]. Unfortunately no cases with cells typed as large granulating cells or as natural killer cells were found. Although these cells may be identified by morphological criteria from routinely stained smears, this information is not available from most Rayon or even Oblast Clinics.

The only aspect that draws attention is the fact that the cases of chronic leukaemia are nearly evenly distributed among CML and CLL in the contaminated rayons of the Kaluga oblast whereas usually the incidence of CLL in Russia is 1.5-3 times higher than that of CML. So far there is no explanation for this overdispersion of CML.

All in all, there is no indication of poor data quality in respect of the diagnostic accuracy after the verification of diagnoses in the framework of this study.

3.2. CUMULATIVE ATTRIBUTABLE RISKS OF LEUKAEMIA

The attributable risk indicates the percentage of the cases that may be attributed to the influence of a certain causative factor during a defined time period. The cumulative attributable risks of leukaemia due to the radiation after the Chernobyl accident among the population of the contaminated rayons of the Bryansk and Kaluga oblasts are given in table 3.3. The cumulative risks were calculated using the prognostic UNSCEAR-model [UNS 94] for the time after the latent period, beginning from 1989. The total life-expectancy was assumed to be 90 years.

| | CUMULATIVE ATTRIBUTABLE RISKS OF LEUKAEMIA (ENTIRE POPULATION) | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|--|----------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------|--|--|--|
| AFFECTED | | 1989-1994 | | lifetime expected | | | | | |
| KATONS | calculated baseline (cases) | radiation- related (cases) | attributable (%) | baseline (cases) | radiation- related (cases) | attributable (%) | | | |
| Gordeevsky | 4.40 | 0.78 | 15.1 | 48.3 | 2.07 | 4.1 | | | |
| Zlynkovsky | 4.49 | 0.91 | 16.9 | 50.5 | 2.46 | 4.6 | | | |
| Klintsovsky | 32.1 | 2.42 | 7.0 | 344.0 | 6.21 | 1.8 | | | |
| Krasnogorsky | 6.01 | 1.68 | 21.8 | 64.2 | 4.32 | 6.3 | | | |
| Novozybkovsky | 18.49 | 3.45 | 15.7 | 196.5 | 8.86 | 4.3 | | | |
| Highly contaminated | 65.49 | 9.24 | 12.4 | 703.5 | 23.92 | 3.3 | | | |
| Zhizdrinsky | 4.25 | 0.17 | 3.8 | 49.2 | 0.46 | 0.9 | | | |
| Ulianovsky | 3.41 | 0.2 | 5.5 | 41.9 | 0.59 | 1.4 | | | |
| Khvastovichsky | 5.07 | 0.25 | 4.7 | 56.4 | 0.68 | 1.2 | | | |
| Slightly contaminated | 12.73 | 0.62 | 4.6 | 147.5 | 1.73 | 1.2 | | | |

Table 3.3 Estimation of cumulative attributable risks of leukaemia [KAI 02]

The radiation-related attributable risks of leukaemia for the years from 1989 to 1994 are 12.4% in the highly contaminated rayons and 4.6% in the slightly contaminated rayons. As the radiation-induced risk of leukaemia decreases with time following the exposure, the lifetime attributable risk is approximately 3 to 4 times lower than the attributable risk for the period 1989-1994. Estimates show that about 75% of all radiation-induced lifetime cases would occur within the 15 years after the latent period, i.e. between 1989 and 2003.

3.3. ANNUAL NUMBER OF CASES AND STANDARDIZED INCIDENCE RATES – A REGIONAL COMPARISON

The cumulative attributable risk in the population of the three contaminated Kaluga rayons is very small (table 3.3). For further analysis, these three rayons will be combined with the three control rayons of the Kaluga oblast. They will thus form a larger control group (combined control rayons, CCR) for a powerful statistical analysis in relation to the Bryansk study rayons (highly contaminated rayons, HCR).

To date, it has not been proved that CLL is induced by radiation. The following analyses were therefore performed both for all leukaemia and for all leukaemia excluding CLL.

The number of leukaemia cases between 1980 and 1998 among males and females for all leukaemia and for all leukaemia excluding CLL are presented in fig 3.4 for the highly contaminated (a-b) and the combined control rayons (c-d). The mean annual number of all leukaemia in the highly contaminated rayons is 13, ranging from 6-20; in the combined control rayons it is 4.53, ranging from 0-11. This difference in annual incidence is not significant when considering the difference in population size and age and sex structure, as can be seen from the standardized incidence rates.

Leukaemia incidence rates differ in the various age groups and between the sexes. This implies that the age and sex distribution in a population influences the crude incidence rates. In order to assess the incidence rates of different times and regions it is thus necessary to adjust for the composition of the population, i.e. to directly standardize the rates in order to make them comparable.

Crude and standardized (world standard) incidence rates per 100 000 persons between 1980 and 1998 are given in fig 3.5 for the highly contaminated rayons and in fig 3.6 for the combined control rayons. The rates for all leukaemia (a-b) and for all leukaemia excluding CLL (c-d) are given for males and females separately. The crude rates are given separately with the corresponding 95%-CI's; no significant fluctuations is observed between the years. The regression line indicates the trend of the standardized rates over the entire period.

It is remarkable that the standardized rates are rather instable in their relation to the crude rates and this might lead one to assume that the population in the study areas is extremely unstable from one year to the next. This is, however, not the case. The effect is due to the small number of cases in each year and the fact that they are distributed very inhomogenously between the various age-groups.

35

The mean morbidity in males in the contaminated rayons (all leukaemia: 6.2/100 000 [95%CI 5.1; 7.4] per year, all leukaemia excluding CLL: 4.2/100 000 [95%CI 3.3; 5.2] per year) is comparable to that in females in the contaminated rayons (all leukaemia: 5.8/100 000 [95%CI 4.9; 6.9] per year, all leukaemia excluding CLL: 4.5/100 000 [95%CI 3.7; 5.5] per year, the difference being non-significant: p-value of two-sample test for binomial proportions [BIN 02] 0.61 and 0.70 respectively). The same is true for the combined control rayons (all leukaemia among males: 5.4/100 000 [95%CI 3.9; 7.4] per year, all leukaemia excluding CLL: 3.3/100 000 [95%CI 2.1; 4.9] per year; all leukaemia among females: 5.1/100 000 [95%CI 3.7; 6.7] per year, all leukaemia excluding CLL among females: 3.4/100 000 [95%CI 2.3; 4.9] per year, the difference being non-significant: p-value of two-sample test for binomial proportions 0.74 and 0.87 respectively).

The leukaemia rates and their secular trends are comparable in the highly contaminated rayons and in the combined control rayons: there is a very small increase over time and this is slightly more marked among females than among males both for all leukaemia excluding CLL and for CLL alone.









Fig 3.4 Leukaemia cases over the entire study period (1980-1998)



Fig 3.5 Crude and standardized (world standard) incidence rates (per 100 000) in the highly contaminated rayons. Vertical bars indicate 95% CI's for the crude rates according to Poisson; the regression line is calculated for the standardized rates



Fig 3.6 Crude and standardized (world standard) incidence rates (per 100 000) in the combined control rayons. Vertical bars indicate 95% CI's for the crude rates according to Poisson; the regression line is calculated for the standardized rates

3.4. STANDARDIZED INCIDENCE RATES – A TEMPORAL COMPARISON

In fig 3.7, the standardized (world standard) incidence rates are given for each of the three periods for all leukaemia and for all leukaemia excluding CLL. A comparison of the standardized rates for adults in the highly contaminated and the combined control rayons shows – both for all leukaemia and for all leukaemia excluding CLL - that the incidence rates are higher in the highly contaminated rayons in the earlier periods. There is a slight increase in incidence rates for both groups of rayons mainly in the third period. However, this increase is more marked in the combined control rayons, so that the incidence rates for the third period are similar in the combined control rayons and in the highly contaminated rayons.



Fig 3.7 Standardized (world standard) leukaemia incidence rates (per 100 000) over the three study periods

The standardized leukaemia incidence rates for children (0-14 years) shown in fig 3.8 are substantially higher in the highly contaminated rayons in the pre-accident period, but drop below the rates of the combined control rayons in the early and the later post-accident period - the rates in the later post accident period are practically identical. This effect is due both to a decrease in the rates in the contaminated rayons and an increase in the rates in the combined control rayons.



Fig 3.8 Standardized (world standard) leukaemia incidence rates (per 100 000) in children (boys and girls) over the three study periods. The figures indicate the number of cases that the rates are based on (cf table 3.2.)

The results of the comparison of standardized incidence rates in the highly contaminated rayons of the Bryansk oblast and the combined control rayons of the Kaluga oblast show no statistically significant difference, neither for all leukaemia, nor for all leukaemia excluding CLL. There is a slightly increasing secular trend in the standardized incidence rates in adults of all leukaemia as well as of CLL. This increase is more marked in the combined control rayons than in the highly contaminated rayons. The standardized incidence rates in children have clearly increased over time in the combined control rayons, but have decreased in the highly contaminated rayons.

3.5. Age-specific incidence rates

An important aspect in the description of leukaemia incidence is the specific incidence in the different age groups. Age-specific incidence rates of all leukaemia and all leukaemia excluding CLL in 5-year age groups are given in fig 3.9 for males (a, c) and females (b, d) in the highly contaminated and the combined control rayons. The age-specific incidence rates were calculated over the entire study period (1980–1998) in order to increase statistical power. Table 3.4 gives the age-specific incidence rates with the corresponding 95% CI's.

The age-specific incidence rates in children are higher for boys in the combined control rayons than in the contaminated rayons, but the opposite is true for the incidence in girls. This difference is not significant at the 95% level of confidence. In adults (apart from the age group 35-44), there is a tendency towards higher rates in the contaminated rayons in comparison with the combined control rayons for all leukaemia as well as for all leukaemia excluding CLL. This tendency is also not significant.





41







Fig 3.9 Age-specific incidence rates (per 100 000) over the entire study period (1980-1998). Vertical bars indicate 95% CI's according to Poisson

| | | | 0-4 | 5-9 | 10-14 | 15-19 | 20-24 | 25-29 | 30-34 | 35-39 | 40-44 | 45-49 | 50-54 | 55-59 | 60-64 | 65-69 | 70+ |
|----------|------|------|-----------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| | ale | HCR* | 5 2.5;9.8 | 1.7 0.6;5.1 | 1.9 0.6;5.6 | 2.5 1;6.5 | 2.9 1.1;7.5 | 1.5 0.4;5.4 | 3 1.2;7.7 | 0.8 0.1;4.3 | 0.9 0.2;4.9 | 8.2 4.3;15.7 | 7.8 4.1;14.7 | 12.9 7.7;21.7 | 15.2 9;25.4 | 41.4 28.3;60.7 | 19.2 11.5;32.3 |
| kaemia | 3 W | CCR^ | 5.9 2;17.3 | 3.8 1;13.7 | 3.5 1;12.7 | 0 0;7.1 | 0 0;8.1 | 0 0;7.3 | 0 0;6.9 | 7.2 2.8;18.6 | 3.9 1.1;14.2 | 4.2 1.1;15.3 | 4 1.1;14.8 | 12.1 5.5;26.3 | 9 3.5;23.2 | 22.3 10.8;46 | 17.6 8;38.3 |
| All leu | ıale | HCR | 5.4 2.7;10.6 | 1.9 0.6;5.5 | 1.2 0.3;4.5 | 1.2 0.3;4.4 | 3.5 1.5;8.3 | 2.2 0.7;6.4 | 1.4 0.4;5.1 | 2.4 0.8;7.1 | 5.1 2.2;11.9 | 4.6 2;10.8 | 7.9 4.5;13.8 | 12.2 7.6;19.6 | 16.6 10.9;25.4 | 14.2 9;22.5 | 8 5.4;11.8 |
| | fen | CCR | 0 0;7.8 | 1.9 0.3;10.6 | 0 0;6.9 | 0 0;8.6 | 2.3 0.4;13.1 | 2.1 0.4;11.8 | 4.2 1.1;15.2 | 2 0.3;11.2 | 6.2 2.1;18.3 | 2 0.4;11.2 | 4.6 1.6;13.5 | 12.7 6.7;24.1 | 9.1 4.4;18.8 | 6.8 2.9;16 | 9.2 5.3;16.1 |
| g CLL | ale | HCR | 5 2.5;9.8 | 1.7 0.6;5.1 | 1.9 0.6;5.6 | 2.5 1;6.5 | 2.9 1.1;7.5 | 1.5 0.4;5.4 | 3 1.2;7.7 | 0.8 0.1;4.3 | 0.9 0.2;4.9 | 2.7 0.9;8.1 | 3.4 1.3;8.9 | 9.2 5;17 | 7.6 3.7;15.6 | 28.7 18.1;45.3 | 9.6 4.7;19.9 |
| xcludin | m | CCR | 5.9 2;17.3 | 3.8 1;13.7 | 3.5 1;12.7 | 0 0;7.1 | 0 0;8.1 | 0 0;7.3 | 0 0;6.9 | 7.2 2.8;18.6 | 3.9 1.1;14.2 | 0 0;8.1 | 2 0.4;11.5 | 8 3.1;20.7 | 4.5 1.2;16.4 | 3.2 0.6;18 | 8.8 3;25.8 |
| aemia e | ale | HCR | 5.4 2.7;10.6 | 1.9 0.6;5.5 | 1.2 0.3;4.5 | 1.2 0.3;4.4 | 3.5 1.5;8.3 | 2.2 0.7;6.4 | 1.4 0.4;5.1 | 1.6 0.4;5.8 | 4.1 1.6;10.5 | 4.6 2;10.8 | 5.3 2.7;10.4 | 9.3 5.5;16 | 13.5 8.4;21.6 | 8.7 4.9;15.6 | 5.1 3.2;8.3 |
| All leuk | fem | CCR | 0 0;7.8 | 1.9 0.3;10.6 | 0 0;6.9 | 0 0;8.6 | 2.3 0.4;13.1 | 2.1 0.4;11.8 | 4.2 1.1;15.2 | 2 0.3;11.2 | 6.2 2.1;18.3 | 0 0;7.6 | 4.6 1.6;13.5 | 5.6 2.2;14.5 | 6.5 2.8;15.2 | 4.1 1.4;12 | 5.4 2.6;11.1 |

Table 3.4 Age-specific incidence rates (per 100 000) with 95% CI's according to Poisson over the entire study period (1980-1998)

HCR* - highly contaminated rayons (mean population: 226 600)

CCR[^] - combined control rayons (mean population: 88 466)

4. DISCUSSION

4.1. COMPLETENESS AND QUALITY OF THE DATA

The initial database at the local cancer registry consisted of 331 routinely registered leukaemia cases for the years 1980 to 1998 in the rayons under study. The active search for cases previously diagnosed but not registered added 36 cases to the project data base. The search was conducted at all medical and administrative institutions where information on patients with leukaemia might be found. It can therefore be assumed that all cases diagnosed between 1980 and 1998 in the rayons under study were finally included in the project data base.

In spite of this, the possibility that not all patients having leukaemia were diagnosed as such cannot be dismissed. This is especially true for the older age-groups in rural regions. However, there is no indication that the extent of underdetection varied during the study period. If anything, the level of detection might have been expected to improve with an improving health care system in the late 1980s and to subsequently deteriorate during the 1990s with the crisis of the health care system after the disintegration of the Soviet Union. This would also apply especially to the elderly, who often cannot afford the previously cost-free public health service. A general under-registration of cancer incidence rates in Russia for the age-groups 70+ has been reported [SHK 99], and is highly likely to have also occurred in the present study. Only the order of magnitude remains speculative. Such an under-detection of cases on a stable level, however, is not important in relation to the assessment of a possible radiation effect, neither in the regional nor in the temporal analyses.

Furthermore, varying levels of completeness of cancer registration in Russia in the 1980s and 1990s due to changing coding practises of death certificates have been observed [SHK 99]. This effect would only concern cases added to the data base by the evidence of the death certificate only (DCO cases). Due to the extensive follow-up on every case included, there are no DCO cases in the present study.

In order to optimize the quality of the data, all information included in the project data base was verified directly at the responsible medical and administrative institutions. This led to the exclusion of 34 cases: in 18 'non-cases' the initial diagnosis proved to be wrong, whereas 16 'non-cases' were due to technical errors (miscoding of a diagnosis other than leukaemia as leukaemia, wrong addresses, dates, etc.). The fact that only 18 cases (4.9%) had to be excluded from the project data base due to misdiagnosing testifies to the high level of accuracy and precision of the initial diagnoses. This is in line with the experience of an international haematologic panel reviewing leukaemia cases from the Ukraine, where the 'haematologists and haemopathologists on the panel were in agreement with one another and with the previously reported diagnoses and classifications of about 90% of the cases of acute and chronic leukaemia in the study' [DYA 02]. The accuracy in this study was supported by the fact that ICD 9 with its exhaustive and mutually exclusive categories had been initially used as opposed to being attributed to the cases in the course of the study.

The frequency distributions of the different types of leukaemia in the different study rayons and periods are homogeneous, as are the age and sex distributions. An external comparison furthermore shows these parameters to be in line with international experience [SEE 03, CIN 97]. These findings indicate high internal and external validity of the data.

It is remarkable but most probably purely coincidental that the order of magnitude of falsenegative cases (36 cases added to the project data base through active detection, corresponding to 10.9% of the 331 cases in the initial database) and of false-positive cases (34 cases omitted, corresponding to 10.3% of the initial cases) is the same. This implies that the *a priori* error that would have occurred in an analysis previous to the extensive data-check is equal to the *a posteriori* error and must, in any case, be smaller than 10% of the number of cases.

4.2. CONTINUITY OF THE DOCUMENTATION AND POSSIBLE BIASES

The absence of abrupt, statistically significant changes in incidence rates over time or between the groups of study rayons points towards the continuity of the documentation of the cases. It has been suggested that fear in the population and increased awareness among medical doctors might result in an expectation or a detection bias. Both biases would lead to elevated incidence rates directly after the accident and a subsequent decrease. In the case of an expectation bias the incidence rates would simply return to the pre-accident level. In the case of a detection bias the rates would fall below the pre-accident rates after the initial increase before returning to the actual level. There is no indication of either an expectation or a detection bias in this study.

A further source of a possible bias is the migration of the population from the highly contaminated to the control regions, leading to a misclassification of exposed individuals. Demographic data on the age and sex structure of the population of the rayons under study were contributed by the Oblast Statistics Committee (Oblkomstat) on the basis of the censuses in 1979 and 1989. The change in population size clearly exceeds the effect of a change in birth rate. This is also evident when assessing the demographic structure of the different populations. The changes in the study regions must therefore be partly due to migration. Unfortunately, it is difficult to obtain detailed information on migration on the rayon level, especially where the people might have migrated from or to [KOR 03]. Nevertheless, several aspects suggest that a possible migration effect would not strongly bias the overall results of this study:

Migration may be compulsory or chosen, even if it is an official resettlement of inhabitants of some highly contaminated areas by the local (oblast) authorities. The compulsory resettlement concerns only extremely highly contaminated areas and mostly happened fairly shortly after the accident, before high individual doses had been accumulated. Since any type of official resettlement took place within the same oblast or even within the same rayon, the population increase in the control rayons in the Kaluga oblast cannot be due to people officially resettled from the extremely highly contaminated areas in the Bryansk oblast. Due to much lower contamination, there was no compulsory resettlement at all in the Kaluga oblast. People migrating from the slightly contaminated study rayons (which are all located in the Kaluga

oblast) to the control rayons in the Kaluga oblast might account for some of the population increase in the control rayons [KOR 03]. Their radiation risk, however, is so low (cf. 3.2.) that it is negligible in view of the remainder of the control cohort.

People may also migrate on their own accord for various reasons not directly linked to the radiation, i.e. for economic reasons or simply because they have family in other places, for example in Moscow [KOR 03]. These people would not necessarily be those with the highest risks. Since this type of migration would have occurred similarly in the highly contaminated and the slightly contaminated rayons, it would lead to non-differential misclassification.

For the above stated reasons, any migration might lead to a slight underestimation of the risk in the highly contaminated rayons in the worst case, but would not result in an overestimation of the risk in the control rayons.

4.3. STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The strengths of the present study are the completeness and the outstanding quality of the data: the 333 cases in the final project data base must be considered as the complete number of cases diagnosed in the study rayons between 1980 and 1998 and the diagnoses can be seen as incontestable. The results of the analyses thus give an accurate picture of the leukaemia incidence rates in the study rayons and periods, which allows a realistic assessment of a possible effect of the radiation released from the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant in 1986.

The study cohorts were formed according to the official mean annual effective dose they have been subjected to due to the Chernobyl accident in addition to their average annual dose (mainly natural and medical exposure) of about 2.4 mSv. In the years 1986 to 1995, this additional average annual dose amounted to 2.29 mSv in the highly contaminated rayons, to 0.74 mSv in the slightly contaminated rayons and to 0.035 mSv in the control rayons. Joining the population of the slightly contaminated rayons and of the control rayons to form the combined control cohort results in higher statistical power. This is possible without the loss of power in the risk group, for the cumulative attributable risks at 0.74 mSv are negligible in view of the size of the study cohort (cf 3.2).

The study does not allow the estimation of risk coefficients because no individual dosimetry can be provided. Mean doses are computed for the inhabitants of settlements, so that the dose range would be wide when estimating the dose for an actual individual from this information. The computation of risk coefficients would require individual dosimetry and a sufficient control of confounding factors (such as exposure to other risk factors) in a cohort or preferably even a case-control study.

4.4. ATTRIBUTABLE RISKS OF LEUKAEMIA IN THE STUDY COHORT AND THEIR DETECTION

The attributable lifetime risk of leukaemia in the population of the highly contaminated rayons is estimated to be 24 cases, based on the risk factors from the Life Span Study of the Japanese cohort. These cases are assumed to occur in addition to a calculated baseline estimate (without the radiation factor) of 703 cases, adding up to a total of 727 cases (including the assumed radiation factor). When calculating the 95% confidence interval (95%CI 651; 755) it becomes clear that such an influence, even if present, would not be statistically detectable. This is all the more true for the smaller numbers of radiation-related (9.4) and baseline (64) cases estimated for the years 1989-1994 in the same cohort (95%CI 48.74; 80.25) [SAC 92].

4.5. RESULTS OF THIS STUDY IN COMPARISON TO OTHER EXPOSED COHORTS

An increase of MDS after the Chernobyl accident, as postulated by some Eastern scientists [IVA 97], is highly unlikely although MDS is thought to be inducible by ionizing radiation [AUL 98, NIS 01]. However, there is no large-scale experience or estimation of risk coefficients, for example from Japan, as MDS had not yet been defined as such. The risk coefficients for acute leukaemia from the Japanese studies must thus be seen as an integral measure of the risks of MDS *and* acute leukaemia. In this study MDS is not included mainly because the quality of diagnosis could not be assured, especially for the early years. Nevertheless, it may be assumed that a dramatic increase in MDS would have been noticed, as 25%-40% of MDS turn into acute leukaemia in the course of the disease [YOS 96]. This would have reflected in the present analysis.

4.5.1. CHILDREN

Leukaemia is a rare disease in childhood: in this study, only 35 cases occurred between 1980 and 1998 in the children (0-14 years) of the study cohort (1.84 cases per year). Their distribution over the years and the study periods leads to very small numbers of cases on which the individual incidence rates are calculated. This implies that the power of the statistical analysis is very low. Nevertheless, the absence of an increase in the years after the Chernobyl accident or of elevated rates in the contaminated versus the control rayons indicates the absence of a considerable radiation effect in the studied children.

These findings are in line with the findings of studies of similar methodology and quality of larger childhood populations in the contaminated areas of Belarus, Russia, and the Ukraine [BEC 02, GAP 01b, IVA 96]. Even a study on the subgroup of infants, who seem to be especially radio-sensitive [STE 56], could not detect elevated incidence rates for Belarus [IVA 98]. It therefore seems highly unlikely that the increase in infant leukaemia reported for Greece [PET 96] is due to radiation, as the contamination in Greece was lower than in Belarus by a factor of more than 10. This is also true for the average doses in Germany, where even in the more highly contaminated southern parts the doses remained well below those in Belarus or the highly contaminated Russian study regions (cf. tab. 4.1).

No detectable increase due to the radiation after the Chernobyl accident has been reported by the European Childhood Leukaemia-Lymphoma Study (ECLIS), which compiles data from 36 cancer registries of 23 countries. The authors observe 'a slight increase in the incidence of childhood leukaemia in Europe' but also find that 'the overall geographical pattern of change bears no relation to estimated exposure to radiation resulting from the accident' [PAR 96]. This supports the notion that the lack of a dose-effect relationship cannot be dismissed in epidemiologic reasoning.

4.5.2 Adults

There is no increase in leukaemia incidence rates in the post-accident periods in comparison to the pre-accident period. Moreover, the incidence rates in the contaminated rayons do not differ from those in the control rayons. Both are true for all leukaemia as well as for all leukaemia excluding CLL and no difference has been observed between the sexes. The age-specific incidence rates show no remarkable features apart from surprisingly low rates for the older age-groups (cf. 4.1).

These findings are in line with data from other cancer registries covering the most highly contaminated regions of the Commonwealth of Independent States [GAP 01a, PRI 95], even if the completeness and quality of the data might vary.

Some regions of the world such as Kerala, India, and Yangjiang, China, are known for their high natural background radiation. These two regions are populated by about 100 000 persons each. The total size of these two populations is comparable to that of the highly contaminated study rayons (222 000) but the mean doses after Chernobyl were much lower (between 1986 and 1995 about 2.29 mSv plus 2.4 mSv from natural background and medical exposure, altogether about 4.7 mSv per year). Cancer incidence rates and mortality in the populations continuously exposed to high background radiation (10-100 mSv per year [TUB 00]) have been monitored for years. There is no indication of an elevated cancer incidence rate or mortality in either of the regions [TAO 00, NAI 99]. Some authors postulate an adaptive response induced by chronic exposure to natural background radiation [GHI 02]. Nevertheless, a detection of elevated cancer incidence rates even in the populations more highly exposed due to the Chernobyl accident would be surprising in view of the cancer rates in the populations exposed to high natural background radiation.

No increase of cancer risks has so far actually been observed at doses below 200 mSv in epidemiological studies on the level of the general population. Cases that may be assumed to occur when extrapolating on the grounds of risk factors derived from higher doses and dose rates are therefore referred to as virtual cases [TUB 00] or hypothetical risks [BFS 03].

One possible explanation for this phenomenon is the fact that the calculation of the risk coefficients from the Life Span Study is based on comparatively high doses at a high dose rate. Yet not only the doses, but also the dose rates, are much lower in the studies in question than in Japan. For low Linear Energy Transfer (LET) radiations 'it is evident that theoretical considerations, experimental results in animals and other biological organisms, and even some limited human experience suggest that cancer induction at low doses and low dose rates

should be less than that observed after high doses and dose rates'. For this reason the International Commission on Radiological Protection (ICRP) has introduced a *Dose and Dose Rate Effectiveness Factor* (DDREF) [ICRP 90].

Another possible explanation is the choice of the model used for the calculation of risks at low doses. The shape of the dose-effect curve at doses below 200 mSv is disputable and may be anything from a linear function without a threshold or a linear-quadratic to a quadratic function. The conservative linear no-threshold approach is used in radiation-protection, where it is vital not to underestimate the risks. The resulting risk coefficients at low doses, however, may actually be higher than the real risks [TUB 00].

4.6. PUTTING THE RISK IN PERSPECTIVE – A COMPARISON WITH OTHER RISK FACTORS

At this stage it seems important to compare the mean annual effective dose to the population in the contaminated areas of Russia after the Chernobyl accident with the doses due to other sources of ionizing radiation (table 4.1)

| Source | Mean annual effective dose per person [mSv] |
|---|--|
| Chernobyl NPP accident in the highly contaminated rayons [for the years 1986-1995 altogether 22.9 mSv] | 2.29 |
| In the slightly contaminated rayons [for the years 1986-1995 altogether 7.4 mSv] | 0.74 |
| Natural background radiation in Germany (as is typical for Europe in general) | 2.4 |
| Chernobyl (mean dose in Germany today) [in 1986: mean dose 0.5 mSv, near the Alps 0.65 mSv, south of the Danube river 0.35 mSv, north of the Danube river 0.17 mSv] | 0.01 |
| Nuclear Power Plants in Germany | <0.01 |
| X-ray computed tomography | 3-20 |
| X-ray of the chest | 0.2 |
| Mammography [if screened every two years between the ages of 50 and 69 altogether 5 mSv] | 0.5 |
| Flight Paris-Tokyo at 12 000 m | 0.2 |
| Annual limit for exposed professionals | 20 |

| Tab 4.1 | Doses due to various | sources of ionizing radiation | [BFS 03, MHH 01, | , MIC 01] |
|---------|----------------------|-------------------------------|------------------|-----------|
|---------|----------------------|-------------------------------|------------------|-----------|

It must be stressed that ionizing radiation may, even at very low doses at which to date no such effect has been observed, induce a certain stochastic risk of cancer. As in any risk assessment, the benefits of an exposure, for example a necessary diagnostic x-ray, must be weighed against its detrimental effects. And it goes without saying that any unnecessary exposure should be avoided.

The hypothetical risk at low doses should therefore be assessed in relation to the order of magnitude of the radiation doses received from other sources like the natural background radiation, especially when the exposure in question is the source of massive public concern as is the case after the Chernobyl accident. Ionizing radiation is a very good example of discrepancy between the actual risk and the emotions raised: whether a certain risk is acceptable in the public opinion often depends not so much on the dimension of the risk as on its perception in a society. Beyond the factual aspect, risk seems to be a socially constructed concept. Gender, education and social status are strongly correlated with risk judgement and attitude. There even is a theory that 'individuals select what and how much to fear as the product of a particular cultural bias and in order to support a given world view' [TUB 99].

Whether risks are avoidable clearly has little influence on the risk perception. This becomes evident when comparing the above-mentioned hypothetical cancer risks at low doses of radiation with other, real cancer risks. The International Agency for Research on Cancer estimates that 50% of all cancers could be avoided by changes in lifestyle (less exposure to tobacco, alcohol, the sun, changes in nutrition, and more physical exercise) [cited in TUB 99].

A special problem in the Commonwealth of Independent States is the actual decline in health and the increase in mortality in the population, which mainly affects middle-aged men. After a marked increase in the mid 1980s due to Gorbachev's anti-alcohol campaign, the male lifeexpectancy at birth has dropped by nearly 10 years to presently 56.1 years (Disability Adjusted Life Expectancy - DALE), while it is still 66.4 years for women [DEM 03]. Incidentally, the infant mortality remained stable during the same period, which indicates that the health care system in the field of obstetrics and neonatology is – so far – intact. The decrease in life expectancy is mainly due to deaths from 'accidents and intoxication' and from 'cardiovascular diseases', whereas the cancer mortality has decreased for both sexes [SKH 99]. Obviously, the unfavourable economic and insecure social situation as well as selfinduced health risks play a major role in the decrease of life-expectancy, but are rarely consciously associated with it. Yet people tend to attribute any physical symptom to the radiation factor – regardless of whether they live in a highly contaminated rayon or not.

4.7. RELEVANCE AND IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH

The present study was designed to detect a possible increase of leukaemia incidence on the level of the general population in the rayons of Russia highly contaminated as a result of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant accident. Although the findings of the study are not surprising considering the scientific knowledge, they are nevertheless acutely important in view of the beliefs of the general public.

The fear and apprehension caused by the overestimation of the radiation risks create a continuous stress situation and add to the present detrimental health conditions in the population. Moreover, people who attribute the cause of ill health to an external locus of control are less liable to show positive health behaviour than people with an internal locus of control. This would, obviously, also affect the degree of counter-measures personally taken by individuals in the contaminated regions, such as following the special guidelines for the preparation of food (vegetables, meat, etc.) to reduce the content of radio-nuclides.

It is therefore of utmost importance to communicate not only the results but also the reliability of the study and the soundness of the data to the affected people. But even if the general public might not overcome their mistrust especially of official information, the findings should at least influence official institutions: ideally, the study should persuade public health authorities to address the current health problems instead of attributing them to the radiation factor and remaining inactive.

5. Abstract

BACKGROUND Leukaemia, especially the acute types predominant in children, may be caused by ionizing radiation. After the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant accident on 26 April 1986, parts of Belarus, Russia and the Ukraine were contaminated with radionuclides. To date, over 270 000 people live in such contaminated regions in Russia. This study investigates whether the leukaemia incidence rates in these regions might have increased due to the radiation.

- MATERIALS & METHODS A prospective population-based cohort study with a control group was carried out. Cases of leukaemia previously not registered were actively sought for in medical and administrative institutions. Each case that had occurred in the study regions between 1980 and 1998 has been ascertained and verified. A descriptive analysis was then performed on the resulting data base which included 333 leukaemia cases.
- RESULTS There is a slight secular trend in the standardized incidence rates both in the highly contaminated and in the control regions. This increase, however, is more marked in the control regions. The incidence rates in children (0-14) in the highly contaminated regions decrease between the pre-accident (1980 to 1986) and the first post-accident period (1987-1992) and show a slight increase towards the second post-accident period (1993-1998), whereas the incidence rates in the control regions show exactly the opposite dynamic. This makes a connection between the dynamics of the incidence rates and the radiological situation highly improbable.

The comparative analysis of the leukaemia incidence rates has not revealed a statistically significant difference between the population of the highly contaminated regions of the Bryansk oblast and the combined control regions of the Kaluga oblast.

CONCLUSIONS There is so far no indication of an increase in leukaemia incidence rates in the general population, neither for children nor for adults. This does not contradict the current radiobiological knowledge that cancer, especially leukaemia, can be caused by ionizing radiation. The number of expected radiation-induced cases based on the risk estimates from the Japanese cohort lies within the 95% confidence limits of the spontaneous incidence rates. It would therefore, if at all present, not be statistically detectable in a population of 222 000 with a spontaneous rate of 5.4/100 000 in men and 3.3/100 000 in women in the control regions. Considering the latency periods and the age-dependent risk-curve of radiation-induced cancers, it is highly unlikely that a radiation-related increase in leukaemia or solid tumour incidence rates will become obvious in the future.

> The fear and apprehension caused by the overestimation of the radiation risks create a continuous stress situation and add to the present detrimental health conditions in the population. It is therefore of utmost importance to communicate not only the results but also the reliability of the study and the soundness of the data to the affected people.

5. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

- HINTERGRUND Leukämien, insbesondere die akuten Formen, die im Kindesalter vorherrschen, können durch radioaktive Strahlung induziert werden. Durch den Unfall in Tschernobyl am 26. April 1986 sind Teile von Belarus, Russland und der Ukraine radioaktiv kontaminiert worden. Bis heute leben in Russland über 270.000 Menschen in solchen kontaminierten Gebieten. Die vorliegende Studie untersucht, ob die Leukämieinzidenzen in diesen Gebieten aufgrund der radioaktiven Strahlung angestiegen sind.
- MATERIAL & METHODEN Zu diesem Zweck wurde eine bevölkerungsbezogene, prospektive Kohortenstudie mit einer Kontrollgruppe durchgeführt. Jeder Leukämiefall der Jahre 1980-1998 aus den Studienregionen wurde genau nacherhoben und verifiziert. Zudem wurde aktiv in Krankenhäusern und Behörden nach nicht erhobenen Fällen gesucht. Die 333 Leukämiefälle, die sich letztendlich in der Datenbank befanden, wurden deskriptiv analysiert.
- ERGEBNISSE Die standardisierten Inzidenzen zeigen über die Jahre einen leicht ansteigenden Trend, sowohl in den kontaminierten als auch in den Kontrollregionen. Dieser Anstieg ist ausgeprägter in den Kontrollregionen. Die Inzidenzen bei Kindern (0-14 Jahre) fallen in den kontaminierten Regionen zwischen der Periode 1980-86 und der Periode 1987-1992 ab und steigen dann in der Periode 1993-98 wieder leicht an, wohingegen die Inzidenzen in den Kontrollregionen genau die umgekehrte Dynamik zeigen. Dies macht einen Zusammenhang mit der radioaktiven Strahlung höchst unwahrscheinlich.

Die vergleichende Analyse zeigt keinen statistisch signifikanten Unterschied in den Inzidenzen zwischen den kontaminierten Regionen und den Kontrollregionen.

Es gibt keinen Hinweis auf einen Anstieg der Leukämieraten in der **S**CHLUSSFOLGERUNGEN Allgemeinbevölkerung, weder bei Kindern noch bei Erwachsenen. Dies widerspricht nicht der strahlenbiologischen Erkenntnis, dass Tumoren, insbesondere Leukämien, durch radioaktive Strahlung induziert werden können. Die mittels der Risikokoeffizienten aus den japanischen Studien errechnete Anzahl der strahleninduzierten Leukämiefälle liegt innerhalb der 95% Konfidenzintervalle der jährlichen Fluktuation der Spontanraten. Solch induzierte Fälle wären daher - falls vorhanden - bei einer exponierten Bevölkerung von ca. 222.000 und einer in den Kontrollregionen beobachteten Spontanrate von 5,4/100.000 (Männer) bzw. 3,3/100.000 (Frauen) statistisch nicht nachweisbar. Bedenkt man die Latenzzeiten und die altersabhängige Risikostruktur strahleninduzierter Tumore, ist ein Anstieg sowohl der Leukämieraten als auch der Raten solider Tumore aufgrund des Reaktorunfalls in Tschernobyl in der Zukunft extrem unwahrscheinlich.

> Die Ängste und Befürchtungen, die durch die Überschätzung der Risiken durch die radioaktive Strahlung entstanden sind, haben zu einer persistierenden Stresssituation für die Betroffenen geführt. Dieser Stress wirkt sich zusätzlich zu den aktuellen ökonomischen und sozialen Faktoren negativ auf die Gesundheit der Bevölkerung aus. Es ist daher wichtig, den Betroffenen nicht nur die Ergebnisse der vorliegenden Studie, sondern insbesondere auch die Qualität der zugrunde liegenden Daten glaubwürdig zu vermitteln.

6. ABBREVIATIONS

| ALL | (204 0) acute lymphoid leukaemia |
|------------------|---|
| ALNOS | (208.0) acute leukaemia not otherwise specified |
| AML | (205.0) acute realized leukaemia |
| AUL | (208.0) acute undifferentiated leukaemia |
| BOC | Bryansk Oblast Clinic |
| 000 | БОБ – Брянская областная больница |
| BOOD | Bryansk Oblast Oncological Dispensary |
| DOOD | БООЛ – Брянский областной онкологический лиспансер |
| BOPC | Bryansk Oblast Paediatric Clinic |
| | БОЛБ – Брянская областная летская больница |
| Ba | Becauerel |
| BY | Belarus |
| CC | City Clinic |
| | ГБ – городская больница |
| CD | Cluster of Differentiation |
| CDL | Clinical-Diagnostic Laboratory |
| | КДЛ – клинико-диагностическая лаборатория |
| 95%-CI | 95%- confidence interval |
| Ci | Curie |
| CIS | Commonwealth of Independent States (founded in December 1992. |
| | Members are: Azerbaijan, Armenia, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, |
| | Kyrgystan, Moldova, Russia, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan and |
| | the Ukraine) |
| CLL | (204.1) chronic lymphoid leukaemia |
| CML | (205.1) chronic myeloid leukaemia |
| CMMoL | chronic myelomonocytic leukaemia |
| CLNOS | (208.1) chronic leukaemia, not otherwise specified |
| CR | Cancer Registry |
| CRC | Central Rayon Clinic |
| | ЦРБ – центральная районная больница |
| DCO | Death Certificate Only |
| df | degree(s) of freedom |
| EST | Esterase |
| ERR | Excess Relative Risk |
| Gosagroprom | State Committee of Agricultural Industry |
| Goskomepidnadzor | State Committe of Epidemiological Surveillance |
| Goskomgidromet | State Committee of Hydrometeorology of the USSR |
| Gy | Gray |
| IARC | International Agency for Research on Cancer |
| ICD-9 | International Classification of Diseases, Injuries and Causes of Death, 9 th |
| | Revision |

| КОС | Kaluga Oblast Clinic |
|-------------|--|
| | КОБ – Калужская областная больница |
| КООД | Kaluga Oblast Oncological Dispensary |
| | КООД – Калужский областной онкологический диспансер |
| КОРС | Kaluga Oblast Paediatric Clinic |
| | КОДБ – Калужская областная детская больница |
| LDH | Laktate Dehydrogenase |
| LNOS | (208.9) leukaemia, not otherwise specified |
| LET | Linear Energy Transfer (of different types of radiation) |
| MDS | Myelodysplastic syndromes |
| | МДС – Миелодиспластический синдром |
| MRRC RAMS | Medical Radiological Research Centre of the Russian Academy of |
| | Medical Sciences |
| | МРНЦ РАМН – медицинский радиологический научный центр |
| | Российской академии меднаук |
| OAL | (206.0, 207.0) other acute leukaemia |
| OC | Oblast Clinic |
| | ОБ - областная больница |
| OCL | (205.8, 207.1) other chronic leukaemia |
| OOD | Oblast Oncological Dispensary |
| | ООД- областной онкологический диспансер |
| OPC | Oblast Paediatric Clinic |
| | ОДБ – областная детская больница |
| PAL | Patho-Anatomical Laboratory |
| | ПАЛ -патолого-анатомическая лаборатория |
| PAS | Periodic Acid-Schiff Reaction |
| POC | Paediatric Oblast Clinic |
| | ДОБ детская областная больница |
| POX | Peroxidase |
| RAEB | (284.9) refractary anaemia with excess blasts |
| | РАИБ - рефрактерная анемия с избытком бластов |
| Rosgydromet | Federal Service for Hydro-meteorology and Environmental Monitoring |
| RR | Relative Risk |
| RU | Russia |
| Sv | Sievert |
| UA | Ukraine |
| ZAGS | Vital Registration Department |
| | ЗАГС – Запись актов гражданского состояния |

7. GLOSSARY

Absorbed dose: Energy which is transferred by radiation to matter per unit mass. This dose is given in Gray (Gy), where 1 Gy = 1 J/kg.

Becquerel: measure for the activity of radionuclides, i.e. for the number of decays per time interval, where 1 Bq = 1 decay/sec.

Blast cells: undifferentiated blood cells which are normally found in the bone marrow and only in very small quantities in the peripheral blood.

Cancer Registry: the term *Cancer Registry* is used – if not otherwise stated – for population based cancer registries.

95%-Confidence interval (95%-CI): Range around a mean in which 95% of the values of a sample survey are located. For a Poisson distribution this is approximately:

95%-CI = $[n - 1.96*\sqrt{n}; n + 1.96*\sqrt{n}]$.

Dispensary (*ducnancep*): specialized (in view of the disease) therapeutic and prophylactic institution which screens for, treats and registers patients with a specific disease. Additionally, definite population groups are monitored to prevent a disease or the spreading of a disease. [MDF 92]

Dispenserisation (*ducnancepusauus*): screening and therapeutic monitoring of an entire population. The responsibility of the dispensary follows the place of residence, i.e. the population is monitored entirely without overlap. The monitored population is regularly invited for screening. Patients are treated with the most modern methods (available *author's comment*). Prophylactic measures and amelioration of the environment is part of the dispensarisation. [MDF 92]

Equivalent dose: different types of radiation vary in their relative biological effectiveness (RBE). To obtain the equivalent dose, the absorbed dose (\uparrow) is multiplied with an official radiation-specific weighting factor (w_R) that is set by the *International Commission on Radiological Protection* (ICRP); for example, w_R for photons (γ - or x-rays) is 1, for neutrons it is 20. The equivalent dose is given in Sievert (Sv), where 1Sv = 1 J/kg.

Excess Relative Risk (ERR): relative risk (\uparrow) exceeding 1. ERR=RR-1= CI_{EX}/CI_{Non-EX}-1.

Expectation bias: increased perception (and registration) of (presumed) effects because of the expectation of the observer.

Gray: unit of the absorbed dose (\uparrow), where 1 Gy = 1J/kg

Incidence: (rate) describes the occurrence of a disease in relation to a population over a specified time interval. It is usually given per 100 000 persons.

I = cases in the time interval x / mean population in the time interval x.

Khozraschet (*xospacuem*): economic tendering of account. Important constituant of the perestroika (↑) under Gorbachev, in which state-owned enterprises were expected to produce economically.

Low dose: often not specified. The *United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation* (UNSCEAR) defines *low dose* as dose below 200 mSv [UNS 00].

Median: middle-valued observation when all the observations are ranked in order of value [MOU 98].

Oblast (*oбласть*): administrative subunit of a republic of the former Soviet Union. They are formed on the grounds of the number of inhabitants, not on geographic or historic features. The population of an oblast is 1.5 - 2 million and, correspondingly, they vary a lot in geographic size. Oblasts are further subdivided into rayons (\uparrow).

Oncological dispensary: (*†*Dispensary) institution specialized in screening, therapy, follow-up and registration of a specific disease.

Perestroika (*nepecmpoŭκa*): rebuilding. Term introduced politically by Gorbachev for the restructuring of governmental and societal structures of the Soviet Union.

Poisson-distribution: describes the probability of events in space or time which occur at a defined frequency.

Power: $1 - \beta$, i.e. 1 - the probability of erroneously accepting the null-hypothesis.

Proliferation, clonal: growth by division of a single cell. Formation of a clone, i.e. a group of genetically identical cells.

Radioactivity: decay of atomic nuclei, the so-called radionuclides. Radionuclides transform into other nuclides e.g. by emitting specific radiation such as α -, β -, or γ -radiation. There are natural as well as man-made radionuclides. The **activity** of nuclides is measured as the number of decays per time interval. Its unit is **Becquerel**, where 1 Bq = 1 decay/sec.

Rate: (↑) Incidence.

Rate Ratio: ratio of two rates (incidences) ([†])

Rayon (*paŭon*): administrative subdivision of an oblast (\uparrow) or a larger town. A rayon has 70 000 – 150 000 inhabitants.

Relative Risk (RR): measure to describe the effect of a harming agent. The RR is the ratio of the probability to incur a disease for the exposed (CI_{EX}) versus the non-exposed (CI_{Non-EX}). RR= CI_{EX}/CI_{Non-EX} .

Screening: examination of groups of population (population at risk) in order to detect certain diseases at an early stage.

Sievert: unit for the equivalent dose (\uparrow), where 1Sv = 1 J/kg.

Uchastok (*yuacmok*): smallest unit for the delivery of public health care, administrative subdivision of a rayon (\uparrow). The uchastok comprises 3 000 – 4 000 persons, to whom primary health care is delivered by a general practitioner, a gynaecologist and obstetrician, a paediatrician, and several nurses.

8. **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- AARU 96 Instruction No 420 to implement a population-based cancer registry (23.12.1996 to be executed immediately). Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, Moscow Приказ Н° 420 О создании Госудаственного ракового регистра. Министерство Здравоохранения Российской Федерации, Москва
- AASU 84 Instructions on the organisation of oncological care to the population, anthology (1984). Ministry of Health of the USSR, Meditsina, Leningrad Сборник о официальных указании по организации онкологической помощи (1984). Министерство Здравоохранения СССР, Медицина, Ленинград
- ADA 99 Adami J, Gridley G, Nyren O et al (1999) Sunlight and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a population-based cohort study in Sweden. Int J Cancer 1;80(5):641-5
- AKS 98 Instructions on cancer statistics, anthology (1998). Ministry of Health of the Ukraine, Research Institute for Oncology and Radiology of the Ukraine, National Cancer Registry of the Ukraine, Kiev Збірник інструкцій по обліку онкологічних хворих та звітності онкологічних закладів. Міністества Охорони Здоров'я України, Українский Науково-Дослідний Інститут Онкології, Национальний Канцер Реєстр України, Київ
- ALE 88 Alekseev NA, Vorontsov IM (1988) Leukaemia in children. Meditsina St. Petersburg Алексеев НА, Воронцов ИМ (1988) Лейкозы у детей. Медицина Санкт-Петербург
- ALE 93 Alexander FE (1993) Viruses, Clusters and Clustering of Childhood Leukaemia: a New Perspective? Eur J Cancer 29A, 10: 1424-1443
- ALE 98 Alexander FE, Greaves MF (1998) Ionising radiation and leukaemia potential risks: review based on the workshop held during the 10th Symposium on Molecular Biology of Hematopoiesis and Treatment of Leukemia and Lymphomas at Hamburg, Germany on 5 July 1997. Leukemia 12: 1319-1323
- ALT 91 Altman DG (1991) Practical Statistics for Medical Research. Chapman & Hall, London
- ARE 74 Arendarevskiy LF (Ed.) (1974) Methodical Recommendations for the registration and accounting in the oncological health care system. Ministry of Health of the Ukraine, Kiev
 Арендаревский ЛФ (1974) Методические рекомендации по вопросам учёта и отчётности в системе онкологической службы. Министерство Здравоохранения УССР, Киев
- AUB 23 Aubertin CL, Grellety BP (1923) Contribution à l'étude de la leucemie aigue. Arch Mal Coer, 16: 696-713 zitiert in [ALE 93]
- AUL 94 Aul C, Gathermann N, Schneider W (1994) Descriptive epidemiology of myelodysplastic syndromes. In: Acute Leukemias IV. Buchner T (ed) Springer Verlag Berlin-Heidelberg p 628-31
- AUL 98 Aul C, Bowen DT, Yoshida Y (1998) Pathogenesis, etiology and epidemiology of myelodysplastic syndromes. Haematologica 83(1): 71-86
- BAI 99 Bain BJ. (1999). Leukemia Diagnosis. 2nd ed. Blackwell Sci, Oxford p200
- BAI 01 Bain BJ (2001) The morphological, immunophenotypic, cytogenetic, molecular genetic (MIC-M) classification of acute leukaemia. Experimental Oncology 23 (1): 11-17, Kiev
- BAR 97 Baryshnikov AYu, Tonovitskiy AG (1997) Monoclonic antibodies in laboratory and clinic. Meditsina Moscow, p264
 Барышников АЮ, Тоневицкий АГ (1997) Моноклональные антитела в лаборатории и клинике. Медицина Москва, с 264
- BAU 02 Bauduer F, Ducout L, Dastugue N, Marolleau JP (2002) Chronic myeloid leukemia as a secondary neoplasm after anti-cancer radiotherapy: a report of three cases and a brief review of the literature. Leuk Lymphoma 43(5):1057-60
- BAZ 95 Bazanov NV (1995) Dispanserisation: Reality and illusion. S^t Petersburg Medical News Journal for the General Practitioner 11-12: 59-61
 - Базанов НВ (1995) Диспансеризация: реальность и иллузии, Санкт-Петербургские врачебные ведомости – журнал для врачей общей практики 11-12: 59-61

- BEB 99 Bebeshko (1999) Problems of radiation induced leukemias and myelodysplastic syndromes. JAMS Ukr; 5: 525-43
- BEC 02 Becker SI (2002, in print) Entwicklung derLeukämieraten bei Kindern ab 1982 in den durch Tschernobyl radioaktiv belasteten Gebieten der ehemaligan Sowjetunion. Schriftenreihe Reaktorsicherheit und Strahlenschutz des Bundesministers für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit
- BEI V Committee on the Biological Effects of Ionizing Radiations, Board on Radiation Effects Research, Commision on Life Sciences, National Research Council (1990) BEIR V. Health Effects of Exposure to Low Levels of Ionizing Radiation. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- BEL 78 Belitskaya YeYa (1978) Contemporary problems of the dispensary statistics. Public Health Care of the Russian Federation 11: 22-24
 Белицкая ЕЯ (1978) Некоторые вопросы диспансерной статистики на современном этапе. Здравоохранение Российской Федерации 11: 22-24
- BEN 95 Bene MC, Castoldi G, Knapp W et al (1995) Proposals for the immunological classification of acute leukemias. European Group for the Immunological Characterization of Leukaemias (EGIL). Leukemia 9(10):1783-6
- BEN 82 Bennet JM, Catovsky D, Daniel MT et al. (1982) French-American-British (FAB) Cooperative Group: proposals for the classification of the myelodysplastic syndromes. Br J Haematol 51: 189-94
- BEN 85 Bennet JM, Catovsky D, Daniel MT et al (1985) Proposed revised criteria for the classification of acute myeloid leukemia: a report of the French-American-British (FAB) Cooperative Group. Ann Intern Med 103: 626-9
- BEN 91 Bennet JM, Catovsky D, Daniel MT et al. (1991) Proposals for the recognition of minimally differentiated acute myeloid leukemias (AML-M0). Br J Haematol 78: 325-9
- BEN 97 Bennet JM. (1997). The FAB classification of myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS). Leukemia Res 21 (Suppl 1): 11-7
- BEN 03 (01/2003) http://www.onc.ed.ac.uk
- BFS 03 (01/2003) http://www.bfs.de/info/index.htm
- BIN 02 (09/2002) http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics/Binomial_proportions.html
- BJO 01 Bjork J, Albin M, Welinder H et al (2001) Are occupational, hobby, or lifestyle exposures associated with Philadelphia chromosome positive chronic myeloid leukaemia. Occup Environ Med 58 (11); 722-7
- BOB 97 Bobadilla JL, Costello CA, Mitchell F (eds) (1997) Premature Death in the New Independent States. National Academy Press, Washington D.C.
- BUR 86 Burenkov SP, Margulis AL, Aniskevich DI (1986) Allocation of personnel of medical institutions. Anthology. Meditsina, Moscow
 Буренков СП, Маргулис АЛ, Анискевич ДИ (1986) Сборник штатных нормативов и типовых штатов учреждений здравоохранения. Медицина, Москва
- CAR 98 Carli PM, Coeberg JW, Verdecchia A (1998) Variation in survival of adult patients with heamatological malignancies in Europe since 1978. EUROCARE Working Group. Eur J Cancer 34:2253-63
- CHI 99 Chissov VI, Starinskiy VV (1999) Malignant Neoplasms in Russia in 1998 (Morbidity and Mortality). Мовсоw Research Institute of Oncology *PA Herzen*, Moscow
 Чиссов ВИ, Старинский ВВ (1999) Злокачественные новообразования в Россий в 1998 году (заболеваемостъ и смертностъ). Московский Научно-Исследователъский Онкологический Институт им. ПА Герцена, Москва
- CHO 00 Chomentowski M, Kellerer AM, Pierce DA (2000) Radiation dose dependences in the atomic bomb survivor cancer mortality data: a model-free visualization. Radiat Res 153 (3): 289-94
- CIN 76 Waterhouse J, Muir C, Correa P, Powell J (eds) (1976) Cancer Incidence in Five Continents Vol III. IARC Scientific Publications No. 15, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- CIN 92 Parkin DM, Muir CS, Whelan SL, Gao YT, Ferlay J, Powell J (eds) (1992) Cancer Incidence in Five Continents Vol VI. IARC Scientific Publications No. 120, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon

- CIN 97 Parkin DM, Whelan SL, Ferlay L et al (eds) (1997) Cancer Incidence in Five Continents Vol VII. IARC Scientific Publications No. 143, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- COM 80 Come SE, Jaffe ES, Andersen JC et al (1980) Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas in leukemic phase: clinicopathologic correlations. Am J Med 69: 667
- COR 95 Corso A, Lazzarino M, Morra E et al (1995) Chronic myelogenous leukemia and exposure to ionizing radiation a retrospective study of 443 patients. Ann Hematol 70(2):79-82
- CRE 01 Creutzig U, Ritter J, Zimmermann M, Reinhardt D, Hermann J, Berthold F, Henze G, Jurgens H, Kabisch H, Havers W, Reiter A, Kluba U, Niggli F, Gadner H (2001) Improved treatment results in high-risk pediatric acute myeloid leukemia patients after intensification with high-dose cytarabine and mitoxantrone: results of Study Acute Myeloid Leukemia-Berlin-Frankfurt-Munster 93. J Clin Oncol 19. 10: 2705-13
- DAY 99 Day N et al (1999) Exposure to power-frequency magnetic fields and the risk of childhood cancer, UK Childhood Cancer Study. Lancet 354: 1925-31
- DEM 76 Demchenkova GZ, Polonskiy ML, Alekseev LI, Yevgrafova TI (1976) The Dispanser-Method in Soviet Health Care. Soviet Health Care, Ministry of Health of the Soviet Union 11: 17-21 Демченкова ГЗ, Полонский МЛ, Алексеев ЛИ, Евграфова ТИ (1976) Диспансерный метод в советском здравоохранении. Советское Здравоохранение 11: 17-21
- DEM 89 Demchenkova GZ (1989) Development and realization of the instructions for screening under the reconstruction of the health care system. Soviet Health Care 1: 8-14
 Демченкова ГЗ (1989) Развитие и совершенствование профилактического направления в условиях перестройки здравоохранения Советское здравоохранение 1: 8-14
- DEM 03 http://demography.narod.ru/facts/dales.html
- DKR 98 Deutsches Kinderkrebsregister (Hrsg.) Jahresbericht 1998. Mainz
- DKR 00 Deutsches Kinderkrebsregister: Leukämiedaten Deutschland 1980-1999 (08/2000) http://info.imsd.uni-mainz.de/K_Krebsregister/
- DMI 97 Dmitrieva TV (1997) The health status of the population of the Russian Federation and the responsibilities of the public health care institutions. Journal for Microbiology, Epidemiology and Immunology 6: 3-6 Дмитриева TB (1997) Состояние здоровья населения Российской Федерации и задачи органов и учереждений здравоохрания. Журнал микробиологии, эпидемиологии и иммунобиологии 6: 3-6
- DOL 94 Doll R, Evans HJ, Darby SC (1994) Paternal exposure not to blame. Nature 367: 678-680
- DOL 97 Doll R, Wakeford R (1997) Risk of childhood cancer from fetal irradiation. Br J Radiol, 70: 130-139
- DOL 98 Doll R (1998) Effects of small doses of ionising radiation. J Radiol Prot 19, 1: 63-65
- DRO 99 Drozdova VD, Noshchenko AG, Bondar AYu, Zamostyan PV (1999) Assessment of the risk of acute leukaemia in the birth cohort of 1986 due to the ionising radiation after the Chernobyl accident. Onkologiya 2: 94-99
 Дроздова ВД, Нощенко АГ, Бондарь АЮ Замостян ПВ (1999) Оценка риска заболевания острыми лейкозами вследствие воздействия ионизирующего излучения у детей, рожденных в год чернобыльской аварии. Онкология 2: 94-99
- DYA 02 Dyagil I, Adam M, Beebe GW, Burch JD, Gaidukova SN, Gluzman D, Gudzenko N, Klimenko V, Peterson L, Reiss RF, Finch SC (2002) Histologic verification of leukemia, myelodysplasia, and multiple myeloma diagnoses in patients in Ukraine, 1987-1998. Int J Hematol 76(1):55-60
- DSS 99 dos Santos Silva I (1999) Cancer Epidemiology: Principles and Methods. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- FAJ 80 Fajnshtejn FE, Kozinets GI, Bakhramov SM, Khokhlova MP (1980). Diseases of the blood system. Meditsina, Moscow, Tashkent
 Файнштейн ФЭ, Козинец ГИ, Бахрамов СМ, Хохлова МП (1980). Болезни системы крови. Медицина, Москва, Ташкент
- FIN 92 Finch SC, Linet MS (1992) Chronic leukaemias. Baillieres Clin Haematol 5(1):27-56

- FLO 93 Floderus B, Persson T, Stenlund C et al (1993) Occupational exposure to electromagnetic fields in relation to leukaemia and brain tumours: a case-control study in Sweden. Cancer Causes Control 4(5):465-76
- FOL 52 Folley JH, Borges W, Yamawaki T (1952) Incidence of leukemia in survivors of the atomic bomb in Hiroshima and Nagasaki, Japan. Am J Med 13, 311-321
- FRE 98 Freedman MH, Estrov Z, Chan HS (1998) Juvenile chronic myelogenous leukemia. Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 10: 261-6
- FRE 77 Frejdlin SYa (1977) Dispanserisation die führende Methode des Sowjetischen Gesundheitswesens. Das sowjetisches Gesundheitswesen 12: 5-9
 Фрейдлин СЯ (1977) Диспансеризация – ведущий метод советского здравоохранения. Советское здравоохранение 12: 5-9
- GAP 01a Gapanovich VN, Iaroshevich RF, Shuvaeva LP, Becker SI, Nekolla EA, Kellerer AM (2001) Childhood leukemia in Belarus before and after the Chernobyl accident: continued follow-up. Radiat Environ Biophys 40: 259-267
- GAP 01b Gapanovich VN, Shuvaeva LP, Yaroshevich RF, Vinokurova GG, Ivanov EP, Shapovayuk NK, Krivenko SI, Melchekova NM, Yunussova DA, Kellerer AM, Becker S, Verger P (2001) Adulthood Haemopathie Incidence Rates in the Republic of Belarus in 1979-1997. Health Effects of the Chernobyl Accident: Results of 15-year Follow-up Studies, June 4-8, 2001, Kiev, Ukraine. International Journal of Radiation Medicine, Vol 3, No. 1-2, Special Issue
- GAR 90 Gardner MJ, Snee MP, Hall AJ, Powell CA, Downes S, Terrell JD (1990) Results of case-control study of leukaemia and lymphoma among youg people near Sellafield nuclear plant in West Cumbria. BMJ 300: 423-429
- GHI 02 Ghiassi-nejad M, Mortazavi SM, Cameron JR, Niroomand-rad A, Karam PA (2002) Very high background radiation areas of Ramsar, Iran: preliminary biological studies. Health Phys 2002 82(1):87-93
- GLU 78 Gluzman DF (1978) Diagnostic cytochemistry of haemoblastoses. Navukova Dumka Kiev. р 216 Глузман ДФ (1978) Диагностическая цитохимия гемобластозов. Наукова Думка Киев, 216с
- GLU 96 Gluzman DF (1996) Leukemias and myelodysplastic syndromes following the Chernobyl accident. Exp Oncol; 18: 120-7
- GLU 98 Gluzman DF, Abramenko IV, Sklyarenko LM, Nadgornaya VA (1998) Laboratory diagnosis of oncohematological diseases. Morion Kyiv, 336p
 Глузман ДФ, Абраменко ИВ, Скляренко ЛМ, Надгорная ВА (1998) Лабораторная диагностика онкогематологических заболеваний Морион Киев 336
- GLU 00 Gluzman DF (2000) Diagnostics of Leukaemia. Morion Kiev Глузман ДФ (2000) Диагностика лейкозов. Морион Киев
- GLU 00a Gluzman DF, Abramenko IV, Machilo VM (2000) Large granular lymphocyte leukemia in Chernobyl clean-up workers. Experimental Oncology 22: 84-85
- GLU 01 Gluzman DF, Sklyarenko LM, Nadgornaya VA, Abramenko IV (2001) World Health Organisation classification of neoplastic diseases of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissue. DIA Limited, Kiev Глузман ДФ, Скляренко ЛМ, Надгорная ВА, Абраменко ИВ (2001) Классификация Всемирной Организации Здравоохранения опухолевых заболеваний кроветворной и лимфоидной ткани. ООО ДИА Киев
- GRE 93a Greaves MF, Alexander FE (1993) An Infectious Etiology for Common Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in Childhood? Leukemia 7, 3: 349-360
- GRE 93b Greaves M (1993) A Natural History for Pediatric Acute Leukemia. Blood 82, 4: 1043-1051
- GRE 97 Greaves MF (1997) Aetiology of acute leukaemia. Lancet 349: 344-349
- GUI 01 Guizard A-V, Bouton O, Pottier D, Troussard X, Pheby D, Launoy G, Slama R, Spira A, and ARKM (2001) The incidence of childhood leukaemia around the La Hague nuclear waste reprocessing plant (France): a survey for the years 1978-1998. J Epidemiol Community Health 55: 469-474

- GUS 86 Guseletova NV, Zubok LN, Grishelevich TA(1986) The organisational structure of oncological dispensaries. The Medical Issue, Ministry of Health of the Ukrainian SSR 5, 926: 1-5 Гуслетова НВ, Зубок ЛН, Гришелевич ТА (1986) Об организационной структуре онкологических диспансеров. Врачебное дело 5, 926: 1-5
- GUS 99 Guslitser LN, Gluzman DF, Abramenko IV (1999) Comparative analysis of contemporary international statistical and morphological classifications of malignant neoplasms of the haematopoietic tissues. Oncologiya 1:51-64 Гуслицер ЛН, Глузман ДФ, Абраменко ИВ (1999) Сравнительный анализ современных международных статистических и морфологических классификаций злокачественных новообразований лимфоидной и кроветворной тканей. Онкология 1: 51-64
- HAN 93 Hanson CA, Abaza M, Sheldon S et al (1993) Acute biphenotypic leukemia: immunophenotypic and cytogenetic analysis. Br J Haematol 84: 49
- HAR 99 Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Diebold J et al. (1999) World Health Organisation classification of neoplastic diseases of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissue: report of the Clinical Advisory Committee Meeting. Airlie House, Virginia, November 1997. J Clin Oncol 17: 3835-49
- HAS 94 Hasle H, Kerndrup G (1994) Epidemiology of MDS in childhood. Leukemia Res 18: 1
- HAY 88 Hayhoe FGJ, Quaglino D. (1988). Haematological Cytochemistry. 2nd ed. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh p 567
- HEC 94 Heckner F (1994) Praktikum der mikroskopischen Hämatologie. 8. Aufl. Urban&Schwarzenberg, München-Wien-Baltimore
- HÖL 96 Hölzel D, Klamert A, Schmidt M (1996) Krebs Häufigkeiten, Befunde und Behandlungsergebnisse. Zuckschwerdt Verlag, München
- IAR 01 IARC (2001) Overview over the regions reported in *Cancer in five continents*. www-dep.iarc.fr/publi/books/CI5COV.HTM
- ICD 9 WHO (1977) ICD-9. 9th Revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Injuries and Causes of Death. World Health Organisation, Geneva
- ICD 9R WHO (1980) International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Injuries and Causes of Death, 9th Revision. Meditsina, Moscow
 BO3 (1980) Руководство по международной статистической классификации болезней, травм и причин смерти, по 9-ому пересмотру. Медицина, Москва
- ICD O WHO (1990) ICD-O. International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, 2nd edition. World Health Organisation, Geneva
- ICRP 90 ICRP (1990) Recommentations of the International Commision on Radiological Protection. Pergamon Press, Oxford
- IDE 78 Idelchik ChI (1978) Zur Geschichte der ersten Sowjetischen Dispansere. Sowjetisches Gesundheitswesen, Gesundheitsministerium der Sowjetunion 3: 72-75 Иделъчик XИ (1978) К истории первых советских диспансеров. Советское здравоохранение 3: 72-75
- IMA 90 Imamura N, Kusunoki Y, Kawa-Ha K, Yumura K et al (1990) Aggressive natural killer cell leukemia/lymphoma: report of four cases and review of the literature. Possible existence of a new clinical entity originated from the third lineage of lymphoid cells. Br J Haematol 75: 49-59
- IMA 01 Imamura N (Hiroshima University) (2001). Resent topics of NK cell lymphomas. «Гематология и переливание крови» IV съезд гематологов и трансфузиологов Украины. Киев Нора Принт; 55-56
- IME 94 Classen M, Diehl V, Kochsiek K (Hrsg.) (1994) 3. Aufl. Innere Medizin. Urban & Schwarzenberg, München
- IME 98 Schettler G, Greten H (Hrsg.) (1998) Innere Medizin. 9. Aufl. Thieme, Stuttgart New York

- IVA 94 Ivanov E, Kozarezova T, Tolochko G (1994) Epidemiological investigations at the panmyelopathies in children of the Republic Byelarus in the pre- and post-Chernobyl accident period. In: Current Problems in Childhood Panmyelopathies: Focus on Myelodysplastic Syndrome. Moscow: p.49 Иванов E, Козарезова T, Толочко Г (1994) Эпидемиологические исследования панмиелопатии у детей республики Беларусь до и после чернобыльской аварии. Актуальные проблемы детской панмиелопатии: Акцент на миелодисплатический синдром. Москва с.49
- IVA 96 Ivanov EP, Tolochko GV, Shuvaeva LP, Becker S, Nekolla E, Kellerer AM (1996) Childhood leukemia in Belarus before and after the Chernobyl accident. Radiat Environ Biophys 35: 75-80
- IVA 97 Ivanov EP (1997) Personal communication
- IVA 98 Ivanov EP, Tolochko GV, Shuvaeva LP, Ivanov VE, Iaroshevich RF, Becker S, Nekolla E, Kellerer AM (1998) Infant leukemia in Belarus after the Chernobyl accident. Radiat Environ Biophys 37: 53-55
- IVA 96 Ivanov VK, Tzyb AF, Maksyutov MA, Pitkevich VA, Gorsky AI, Rastopchin EV, Korelo AM, Chekin SYu, Konogorov AP, Nilova EV (1996) Radiation epidemiological analysis of the data the National Chernobyl Registry of Russia: prognostication and facts nine years after the accident. Radiat Prot Dosim 64: 121-128
- IVA 99 Ivanov VK, Tsyb AF, Ivanov SI (1999) Liquidators of the Chernobyl catastrophe: radiation epidemiological analysis of medical consequences. Moscow, Galanis p 312
- IZR 98 Izrael YuA, Sudakova YeA (Ed.) (1998) Atlas of radioactive contamination of the European part of Russia, Belarus' and the Ukraine. Federal Russian Geodaetic and Cartographic Service, Moscow Израэль ЮА, Судакова ЕА (редакторы) (1998) Атлас Европейской части России, Белоруси и Украины. Федеральная служба России, Москва
- JAC 00 Jacob P, Kenigsberg Y, Goulko G, Buglova E, Gering F, Golovneva A, Kruk J, Demidchik EP (2000) Thyroid cancer risk in Belarus after the Chernobyl accident: comparison with external doses. Radiat Environ Biophys 39 (1): 25-31
- JEN 91 Jensen OM, Parkin DM, Maclennan R, Muir CS, Skeet RG (1991) Cancer Registration: Principles and Methods. IARC Scientific Publications No. 95. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- KAA 97 Kaatsch P, Bremensdorfer C, Lückel M, Michaelis J (1997) Probleme bei der internationalen Zusammenführung von Krebsregisterdaten. In: Muche R, Büchele G, Harder D, Gaus W (Hrsg.) Medizinische Informatik, Biometrie und Epidemiologie GMDS '97. Medizin Verlag München
- KAA 01 Kaatsch P, Spix C, Michaelis J (2001) "Datenfischen" Krebskranke Kinder und Kernkraftwerke. Deutsches Ärzteblatt 38: C 1925
- KAI 02 Kaidalov OV (2002) Personal communication
- KAL 97 Kaletsch U, Meinert R, Miesner A, Hoisl M, Kaatsch P, Michaelis J (1997) Epidemiologische Studien zum Auftreten von Leukämieerkrankungen bei Kindern in Deutschland. Arbeitsbericht, Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit
- KHA 01 Khait SE (2001) personal communication
- KIS 89 Kishchenko LP (1989) Economy and planning of health care during restructuring. Soviet Health Care 4: 3-10
 Кищенко ЛП (1989) Экономика и планирование здравоохранения на этапе его перестройки. Советское здравоохранение 4: 3-10
- KIN 95 Kinlen LJ (1995) Epidemiological evidence for an infective basis in childhood leukaemia. Br J Can 71: 1-5
- KÖR 01 Körblein A (2001) Krebsrate bei Kindern im Umkreis bayerischer Kernkraftwerke. Umweltnachrichten 91/2001: 26-28
- KOM 83 Komarnitskaya NT (1983) Probleme bei der Entwicklung der Dispanser-Methode. Die Sowjetische Medizin 4: 84-86
 Комарницкая НТ (1982) Проблемы развития диспансерного метода. Советская Медицина 4: 84-86
- KON 88 Kondrusev AI, Aleksandrov OA, Korotkikh RV Pogorelov YaD (1988) Improvement of the effectiveness of screening the general line of Soviet health care. Soviet Health Care 2: 9-14 Кондрусев АИ, Александров ОА, Коротких РВ, Погорелов ЯД (1988) Повышение эффективности профилактики генеральная линия советского здравоохранения. Советское здравоохранение 2: 9-14
- KOR 03 Korelo AM (2003) Personal communication
- KRO 95 Kroft SH, Finn WG, Peterson LS (1995) The pathology of chronic lymphoid leukemias. Blood Rev 9: 234
- LAM 98 Lamy TH, Loughran TP (1998). Large granular lymphocytic leukemia. J Moffitt Cancer Center; 5:3
- LEN 88 Lengfelder E (Hrsg.) (1988) Strahlenwirkung Strahlenrisiko. Hugendubel, München
- LEN 99 Lenskaja RV, Kolenkova GV, Timakov AM (1999) Presence of unrelated antigens on leukaemic bone marrow cells in acute leukaemia in children. Haematology and Transfusiology 4: 14-17 Ленская PB, Коленкова ГВ, Тимаков AM (1999). Присутствие неродственных антигенов на лейкозных клетках костного мозга при остром лейкозе у детей. Гематология и трансфузиология 4: 14-17
- LIB 00 Liberson GL, Golden RJ, Blot WJ, Fisch H, Watson C (2000) An examination of the sensitivity of reported trends in childhood leukemia incidence rates to geographic location and diagnostic coding (United States). Cancer Causes and Control 11: 413-417
- LIS 87 Lisitsyn YuP (Ed.) (1987) Social hygiene and the organisation of public health care. 2 Volumes. Meditsina, Moscow Лисицын ЮП (1987) Руководство по социалъной гигиены и организации здравоохранения. В 2 томах. Медицина, Москва
- LIS 92 Lissner J, Fink U (Hrsg.) (1992) Radiologie I. 4. Aufl. Enke Verlag, Stuttgart
- LIT 90 Little MP (1990) A comparison between the risks of childhood leukaemia from parental exposure to radiation in the Sellafield workforce and those displayed among the Japanese bomb survivors. J Radiol Prot 10, 3: 185-1998
- LIT 99a Little J (1999) Epidemiology of Childhood Cancer. IARC Scientific Publications No. 149. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- LIT 99b Little MP, Weiss HA, Boice JD et al (1999) Risks of leukaemia in Japanese atomic bomb survivors, in women treated for cervical cancer, and in patients treated for ankylosing spondylitis. Radiat Res 152(3):280-92
- LOG 83 Loginov NF, Petlenko VP (1983) Socialist life style and public health care. Military-Medical Journal 2: 12-18
 Логинов НФ, Петленко ВП (1983) Социалистический образ жизни и здравоохранение. Военномедицинский журнал 2: 12-18
- LOU 98 Loughran TP (1998). Large granular lymphocytic leukemia: an overview. Hosp Pract; 33:133
- LUD 94 Ludwig WD, Raghvachar A, Thiel E (1994) Immunophenotypic classification of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Clin Haematol 7: 235p
- LUG 01 Lugovskaya SA, Morozova VT, Potshtar' MYe (2001) Laboratory diagnosis of leukaemia . Gubernskaya medicina Tver Луговская CA, Морозова ВТ, Почтарь МЕ (2001) Лабораторная диагностика лейкозов. Губернская медицина Тверь
- MAC 92 MacMahon B (1992) Is Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in Children Virus-Related? Am J Epidemiol 136, 8: 916-924
- MAL 86 Malinovskij NN, Reshetnikov YeA, Kobtseva LF, Zazyuk NT (1986) The comprehensive dispensarisation of the population a basis for screening, early diagnosis and effective therapy of cancer. Surgery, Ministry of Health of the Soviet Union, All-Union Research Society of Surgeons, 1: 7-13

Малиновский НН, Решетников ЕА, Кобцева ЛФ, Зазюк НТ (1986) Всеобщая диспансеризация населения – основа профилактики, ранней диагностики и эффективного лечения онкологических заболевании. Хирургия 1: 7-13

MER 96 State Department of Sanitary and Epidemiological Surveillance of the Russian Federation (1996) 2.6.1. Ionising Radiation, Radiation Protection. Reconstruction of mean cumulative effective doses (1986-1995) to the population in the settlements of the Russian Federation contaminated after the Chernobyl accident. Methodological recommendations 2.6.1.579-96, official issue by the Ministry of Health, Moscow

Государственная система санитарно-эпидемиологического нормирования Российской Федерации (1996) 2.6.1. Ионизирующее излучение, Радиационная безопасность. Реконструкция средней накопленной в 1986-1995 г.г. эффективной дозы облучения жителей населенных пунктов Российской федерации, подвергшихся радиоактивному загрязнению вследствие аварии на Чернобыльской АЭС в 1986 году. Методические указания МУ 2.6.1.579 – 96 Издание официальное Минздрав России Москва

- MER 98 Merabishvili VM, Popova SP (1998) The cancer registry. Contemporary use and new applications in practice and research. World of Medicine 11-12: 61-66
 Мерабищвили ВМ, Попова СП (1998) Раковый регистр. Мир Медицины 11-12: 61-66
- MHH 01 (11/2001) http//:www.mh-hannover.de/kliniken/radiologie/pat_str_02.html
- MIC 97 Michaelis J, Kaletsch U, Burkart W, Grosche B (1997) Infant leukaemia after the Chernobyl accident. Nature 387: 246
- MIC 01 Michel R (2001) 15 Jahre nach dem Unfall von Tschernobyl: Ein Überblick über die radiologischen und radioökologischen Folgen. Neue Entwicklungen im Strahlenschutz, Seminar der TÜV Akademie, 28./29. Juni 2001
- MIN 83 Mintzer DM, Hauptman SP.(1983). Lymphosarcoma cell leukemia and other Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas in leukemic phase. Am J Med 75: 100
- MIS 82 Mishura VI Shabashova NYa, Barmina NM (1982) The oncological dispensary. Library of the general practitioner; Malignant Neoplasms. Meditsina, Moscow
 Мишура ВИ, Шабашова НЯ, Бармина НМ (1982) Онкологический диспансер. Библиотека практического врача: злокачественные новообразования. Медицина, Москва
- MOU 98 Mould RF (1998) Introductory Medical Statistics. 3nd edition, Institute of Physics Publishing, Bristol
- NAI 99 Nair MK, Nambi KS, Amma NS, Gangadharan P, Jayalekshmi P, Jayadevan S, Cherian V, Reghuram KN (1999) Population study in the high natural background radiation area in Kerala, India. Radiat Res 152(6Suppl):S145-8
- NAP 83 Napalkov NP (editor) (1983) Malignant Neoplasms in the Soviet Union, Leningrad Напалков НП (1983) Злокачественные новообразования в СССР, Ленинград
- NEH 01 Knowles DM (ed.) (2001) Neoplastic Hemopathology. 2nd edition, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia
- NIS 01 Nisse C, Haguenor JM, Grandbastian B et al (2001) Occupational and environmental risk factors of the myelodysplastic syndromes in the North of France. Br J Haematology 112(4): 927-35
- NOR 97 Nordlinder R, Jarvholm B (1997) Environmental exposure to gasoline and leukemia in children and young adults an ecology study. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 70 (1): 57-60
- NOS 01 Noshchenko AG, Moysich KB, Bondar A, Zamostyan PV, Drosdova VD, Michalek AM (2001) Patterns of acute leukaemia occurrence among children in the Chernobyl region. Int J Epidem 30: 125-129
- OKE 87 Okeanov AYe (1987) Automatisation of the monitoring of the dispensarisation of oncological patients. Soviet Health Care, Ministry of Health of the Soviet Union 6: 31-34
 Oкеанов AE (1987) Автоматизация контроля диспансеризации онкологических больных. Советское Здравоохранение 6: 31-34
- OKE 88 Okeanov AYe (1988) Results and perspectives of the automatisation of the monitoring of the dispensarisation of oncological patients. Questions in Oncology, Ministry of Health of the Soviet Union, All-Union Research Society of Onkologists Volume XXXIV, 12: 1433-1438
 Oкеанов AE (1988) Резулътаты и перспективы автоматизированного контролъя диспансеризации онкологических болъных. Вопросы онкологии том XXXIV, 12: 1433-1438

OKE 95 Okeanov AYe, Zhakov IG, Yakimovich GV, Bazulko NV et al (1995) Health effects of radiation exposure. Medical-ecological aspect of the Chernobyl accident. Analytical-information Bulletin of Ministry of Health of Belarus, Minsk Океанов АЕ, Жаков ИГ, Якимович ГВ, Базулко НВ и др. (1995) Влияние радиации на здоровье.

Медико-экологические аспекты аварии на ЧАЭС. Информационно-аналитический бюллетень министерства здравоохранения республики Беларусь. Минск

- PÄD 95 Sitzmann Friedrich Carl (Hrsg.) (1995) Pädiatrie. Hippokrates Verlag, Stuttgart
- PAR 93 Parkin DM, Cardis E, Masuyer E et al (1993) Childhood Leukaemia Following the Chernobyl Accident: The European Childhood Leukaemia-Lymphoma Incidence Study (ECLIS). Eur J Cancer 29A, 1: 87-95
- PAR 96 Parkin EM, Clayton D, Black RJ et al (1996) Childhood leukaemia in Europe after Chernobyl: 5 year follow-up. British Journal of Cancer 73, 1006-1012
- PAR 98 Parkin DM, Kramárová E, Draper GJ, Masuyer E, Michaelis J, Neglia J, Qureshi S, Stiller CA (eds.) (1998) International Incidence of Childhood Cancer Vol II. IARC Scientific Publications No. 144. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- PAS 95 Passmore SJ, Hann JM, Stiller CA et al (1995) Pediatric myelodysplasia: a study of 68 children with a new prognostic scoring system. Blood 85: 1742-8
- PAT 94 Krück F (Hrsg.) (1994) Pathophysiologie Pathobiochemie. 2. Aufl. Urban&Schwarzenberg, München-Wien-Baltimore
- PET 96 Petridou E, Trichopoulos D, Dessypris N, Flytzani V, Haidas S, Kalmanti M, Koliouskas D, Kosmidis H, Piperopoulou F, Tzortzatou F (1996) Infant leukaemia after *in utero* exposure to radiation from Chernobyl. Nature 382: 352-353
- PIE 96 Pierce DA, Shimizu Y, Preston DL, Vaeth M, Mabuchi K (1996) Studies of the mortality of atomic bomb survivors. Report 12, Part 1. Cancer 1950-1990 // Radiat Res 146: 1-27
- PLA 87Platukis II (1987) Basic guidelines for restructuring. Soviet Public Health Care 11: 32-37Платукис ИИ (1987) Основные направления перестройки. Советское здравоохранение 11: 32-37
- PRE 93 Preston DL,Lubin JH, Pierce DA, McConney ME (1993) EPICURE. Hirosoft International Corporation, Seattle
- PRE 94 Preston DL, Kusumi S, Tomonaga M, Izumi S, Ron E, Kuramoto A, Kamada N, Dohy H, Matsuo T, Nonaka H, Thompson DE, Soda M, Mabuchi K (1994) Cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors. Part III. Leukemia, lymphoma and multiple myeloma, 1950-1987. Radiat Res 137 (Suppl): p68-97
- PRI 95 Prisyazhniuk A, Gristchenko V, Zakordonets V, Fouzik N, Slipenyuk Y, Ryshak I (1995) The time trends of cancer incidence in the most contaminated regions of the Ukraine before and after the Chernobyl accident. Radiat Environ Biophys 34: 3-6
- PRI 80 Prisyazhniuk AYe, Fedorenko ZP, Mishchenko AN (1980) Organisation of the delivery of oncological care to the rural population. Health Publisher's, Kiev
 Присяжнюк АЕ, Федоренко ЗП, Мищенко АН (1980) Организация онкологической помощи селъскому населению. Здоровя, Киев
- RAA 96 Raabe GK, Wong O (1996) Leukaemia mortality by cell type in petroleum workers with potential exposure to benzene. Environ Health Perspect 104 Suppl 6:1381-92
- RAI 90 Rai KR, Han T (1990) Prognostic factors and clinical staging in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 4(2):447-56
- RAR 99 Tsyb AF, Ivanov VK (1999) United Registry of Russia and Belorussia on thyroid cancer. Radiation & Risk Bulletin of the National Radiation and Epidemiological Registry, Special Issue 2, Moscow Obninsk
 Цыб АФ, Иванов ВК (1999) Единый регистр России и Белоруссии по раку щитовидной железы. Радиация и Риск Бюллетень национального радиационно-эпидемиологического регистраб Специальный выпуск 2, Москва Обнинск

- REM 98 Remennik LV, Petrova GV, Starinskij VV (1998) Descriptive epidemiology of malignant neoplasms in children in Russia. Russian Journal of Oncology 2: 39-47
 Ременник ЛВ, Петрова ГВ, Старинский ВВ (1998) Дескриптивная эпидемиология злокачественных новообразований у детей в России. Российский онкологический журнал 2: 39-47
- ROS 96 Rosati S, Mick R, Xu F et al. (1996). Refractory cytopenia with multilineage dysplasia: furter characterization of an "unclassifiable" myelodysplastic syndrome. Leukemia 10: 20-4
- SAC 92 Sachs L (1992) Angewandte Statistik. 7. Aufl. Springer Verlag, Berlin
- SEM 89 Semenov VYu (1989) Possibilities of applying the principles of accountancy. Soviet Public Health Care 2: 23-27
 Семенов ВЮ (1989) Возможность применения хозрасчетных принципов в здравоохоранении. Советское здравоохранение 2: 23-27
- SER 87 Serdiuk AM (1987) Public health care on the way of Perestroika. The Medical Matter 10, 943: 1-10 Сердюк AM (1987) Здравоохранение на путях перестройки. Врачебное дело 10, 943: 1-10
- SCH 98 Schrappe M, Arico M, Haebott J et al. (1998) Philadelphia chromosome (Ph+) childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: good initial steroid response allows early prediction of a favorable treatment outcome. Blood 92: 2730
- SCH 00 Schrappe M, Reiter A, Ludwig WD, Harbott J, Zimmermann M, Hiddemann W, Niemeyer C, Henze G, Feldges A, Zintl F, Kornhuber B, Ritter J, Welte K, Gadner H, Riehm H (2000) Improved outcome in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia despite reduced use of anthracyclines and cranial radiotherapy: results of trial ALL-BFM 90. German-Austrian-Swiss ALL-BFM Study Group. Blood 95 11: 3310-22
- SCH 02 Schüz J (2002) Leukämien im Kindesalter und die Rolle von Umwelteinflüssen bei deren Entstehung. Umweltmed Forsch Prax 7 (6) 309-320
- SCH 93 Schumacher HR, Cotelingham JD. (1993). Chronic leukemia. Approach to diagnoses. Igaku-Shoin med Publ Inc, New York, p 356p
- SEE 03 SEER: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results. The SEER-program is an initiative of the National Institutes of Health (National Cancer Institute) where data on cancer incidence and mortality from various regional cancer registries in the US are collected, compiled, analysed, and published on a regular basis. The data collection began in 1973, but earlier data may be available for some regional cancer registries (01/2003) <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/</u>
- SHC 82 Shchepin OP, Tsaregorodtsev GI, Yerokhin VG (1982) Historical contents and evolutory tendencies of the principles of socialist public health care. Courier of the Academy of Medical Sciences of the USSR 4:3-10
 Щепин ОП, Царегородцев ГИ, Ерохин ВГ (1982) Историческое содержание и тенденции развития принципов социалистического здравоохранения. Вестник АМН СССР 4:3-10
- SHC 87 Shchepin OP, Gavrilov OK (1987) The politics of the Communist Party in the field of public health care. In: Social Sciences and Public Health Care, Nauka, Moscow
 Щепин ОП, Гаврилов ОК (1987) Политика КПСС в области здравоохранения. Общественные науки и здравоохранение. Наука, Москва
- SHI 95 Shigematsu I, Ito C, Kamada N, Akiyama M, Saski H (eds) (1995) Effects of A-Bomb Radiation on the Human Body. Hiroshima International Council for Medical Care of the Radiation-exposed, harwood academic publishers, Chur
- SHK 99 Shkolnikov VM, McKee M, Vallin J, Aksel E, Leon C, Chenet L, Meslé F (1999) Cancer Mortality in Russia and Ukraine: validity, competing risks and cohort effects. Int J of Epidemiol 28:19-29
- SIV 01 Sivak LA, Gajdukova SN, Klimenko VI (2001) Clinical and cytological features of acute leukaemia which had developed from myelodysplastic syndromes in persons irradiated as a result of the Chernobyl NPP accident. Heamatology and Blood Transfusion, 4th session of the haematologists and transfusiologists of the Ukraine, Nora-Print, Kiev, p 220 Сивак ЛА, Гайдукова CH, Клименко ВИ.(2001) Клинические и цитологические особенности

Сивак ЛА, Гаидукова СН, Клименко ВИ.(2001) Клинические и цитологические осооенности острого лейкоза, развившегося из миелодиспластического синдрома у лиц, пострадавших в результате аварии на ЧАЭС. Гематология и переливание крови. Труды IV съезда гематологов и трансфузиологов Украины. Киев; Нора-Принт стр. 220

- SON 83 Sonnier JA, Buchanan GR, Howard-Peebles PN et al (1983) Chromosomal translocation involving the immunoglobulin kappa-chain and heavy-chain loci in a child with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. N Engl J Med 309:590-594
- SOU 96 Souchkevich GN, Tsyb AF (eds) (1996) Health consequences of the Chernobyl Accident, Scientific Report. WHO, Geneva 1996
- STE 99 Steinbuch M, Weinberg SR, Buckley JD, Robinson LL, Sandler DP (1999) Indoor residential radon exposure and risk of childhood acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Can 81, 5: 900-906
- STE 90 Stevens W, Thomas DC, Lyon JL et al (1990) Leukaemia in Utah and Radioactive Fallout From the Nevada Test Site. JAMA 264, 5: 585-591
- STE 56 Stewart A, Webb J, Giles D, Hewitt D (1956) Malignant disease in childhood and diagnostic irradiation in utero. Lancet 2: 477
- TAO 00 Tao Z, Zha Y, Akiba S et al (2000) Cancer mortality in the high background radiation areas of Yangjiang, China, during the period between 1979 and 1995. J Radiat Res (Tokyo) 41 Suppl: 31-41
- TEF 92 Tefferi A, Phyliky RL (1992) A clinical update on chronic lymphocytic leukemia. I. Diagnosis and prognosis. Mayo Clin Proc 67(4):349-53
- THO 94 Thompson DE, Mabuchi K, Ron E, Soda M, Tokunaga M, Ochikubo S, Sugimoto S, Ikeda T, Teresaki M, Izumi S, Preston DL (1994) Cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors. Part II: Solid Tumors, 1958-1987. Radiat Res 137 (Suppl): pp. 17-67
- TOM 93 Tomonaga M, Matsuo T, Carter RL, Bennett JM, Kuriyama K et al (1993) Differential effects of atomic bomb irradiation in inducing major leukemia types: analyses of open-city cases including the Life Span Study cohort based upon updated diagnostic systems and the dosimetry system 1986. Radiat Effects Res Foundation Hiroshima TR 9-91: 1-26
- TRI 92 Tricot GJ (1992) Prognostic factors in myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia Res 16: 109
- TRO 99 Tronko MD, Bogdanova TI, Komissarenko IV, Epstein OV, Oliynyk V, Kovalenko A, Likhtarev IA, Kairo I, Peters SB, LiVolsi VA (1999) Thyroid carcinoma in children and adolescents in Ukraine after the Chernobyl nuclear accident: statistical data and clinicomorphologic characteristics. Cancer 86: 149-156
- TSA 88 Tsaregorodtsev GI, Kuzmin KK (1988) The role of public health care in the acceleration of social and economic evolution. Courier of the Academy of Medical Sciences of the USSR 4: 3-10 Царегородцев ГИ, Кузьмин КК (1988) Роль здоравоохранения в условиях ускорения социально-экономического развития страны. Вестник АМН СССР 4: 3-10
- TSA 89a Tsaregorodtsev GI (1989) Medicine and Society. The Therapeutic Archives 61, 1: 110-116 Царегородцев ГИ (1989) Медицина и общество. Терапевтический архив 61, 1: 110-116
- TSA 89b Tsaregorodtsev GI, Kuzmin KK (1989) Social politics and public health care. Courier of the Academy of Medical Sciences of the USSR 4: 3-9
 Царегородцев ГИ, Кузьмин КК (1989) Социальная политика и здоравоохранение. Вестник АМН СССР 4: 3-9
- TUB 00 Tubiana M (2000) Radiation risks in perspective: radiation-induced cancer among cancer risks. Radiat Environ Biophys 39:3-16
- UCK 99 Uckun FM, Nachman JB, Sather HN et al (1999) Poor treatment outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-positive pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia despite intensive chemotherapy. Leuk Lymphoma 33: 101
- UNS 94 UNSCEAR (1994) Sources and effects of ionizing radiation. United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. United Nations, New York
- UNS 00 UNSCEAR (2000) Sources and effects of ionizing radiation. United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. Report to the General Assembly. Vol. II: Effects. United Nations, New York
- VHO 97 van Hoff J, Averkin YuI, Hilchenko YeI, Prudyvus IS (1997) Epidemiology of childhood cancer in Belarus: Review of data 1978 – 1994, and discussion of the New Belarusian Childhood Cancer Registry. Stem Cells 15 (Suppl 2): 231-241
- VIR 03 (01/2003) http://www.whonamedit.com

- WAT 03 Waterhouse C (2003) Personal communication
- WES 95 Westermeier T, Michaelis J (1995) Applicability of the Poisson distribution to model the data of the German Children's Cancer Registry. Radiat Environ Biophys 34: 7-11
- WHE 87 Wheater PR, Burkitt HG, Daniels VG (1987) Funktionelle Histologie. 2. Aufl. Urban&Schwarzenberg, München-Wien-Baltimore
- WIC 99 Wick RR, Nekolla EA, Gossner W, Kellerer AM (1999) Late effects in ankylosing spondylitis patients treated with 224 Ra. Radiat Res 152 (6 Suppl):S8-S11
- WIE 01 Wiernik PH, Ashwin M, Hu XP et al (2001) Anticipation in familial chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 113(2):407-14
- WIL 99 Williams CL (1999) Acute leukemias: a paradigm for the integration of new technologies in diagnosis and classification. Med Pathol 12: 218-28
- WIN 98 Winkelmann RA, Okeanov A, Gulak L, Remmenik L, Rahu M, Storm HH (1998) Cancer registration techniques in the New Independent States of the former Soviet Union. IARC Technical Report No. 35, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- YAR 01 Yaremenko SV, Nadgornaja VA (2001) Leukaemia in those who were children at the time of the Chernobyl NPP Accident. Heamatology and Blood Transfusion, 4th session of the haematologists and transfusiologists of the Ukraine, Nora-Print, Kiev, p 225
 Яременко CB, Надгорная BA (2001) Лейкозы у детей –ровесников аварии на ЧАЭС. Гематология и переливание крови, 4 съезд гематологов и трансфузиологов Украины, Нора Принт Киев, стр.225
- YIN 96 Yin SN, Hayes RB, Linet MS et al (1996) A cohort study of cancer among benzene-exposed workers in China: overall results. Am J Ind Med 29 (3): 227-35
- YOF 90 Yoffe G, Howard-Peebles PN, Smith RG et al (1990) Childhood chronic lymphocytic leukaemia with (2;14) translocation. J Pediatr 116:114-117
- YOS 96 Yoshida Y (1996) Physician Education: Myelodysplastic Syndrome. Oncologist 1(4): 284-287
- ZHE 02 Zheng T, Blair A, Zhang Y et al (2002) Occupation and risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and chron lymphocytic leukaemia. J Occup Environ Med 44(5):469-74
- ZOT 80 Zotova IP (1980) Lenin's principles in the planning of public health care. Public Health Care in Belarus 4: 13-17
 Зотова ИП (1980) Ленинские принципы в планировании здравоохранения Здравоохранение Белорусии 4: 13-17

DICTIONARIES / ENCYCLOPAEDIAS

| AMR 97 | Abreviations in Modern Russian. Fadeyev SV (Ed.) (1997) Polytechnik, S ^t Petersburg |
|--------|--|
| | Словаръ Сокращений Современного Русского Языка. Фадеев СВ (1997) Издателъство Политехника, Санкт-Петербург |
| CED 99 | Comprehensive Encyclopeadic Dictionary (1999) Scientific publishing house Comprehensive Russian Encyclopaedia, Moscow Большой Энциклопедический Словаръ (1999) Научное Издателъство Большая Российская энциклопедия, Москва |
| EDR 94 | Explanatory Dictionary of the Russian Language (1994) 2. Edition. »AZ«, Moscow Толковый Словаръ Русского Языка (1994) 2-е издание, »АЗЪ«, Москва |
| GRD 93 | German-Russian Dictionary (1993) 2. Edition. Russkij Jazik, Moscow Немецко-Русский Словаръ (1993) 2-е издание, Русский Язык, Москва |
| GUD 97 | German-Ukrainian / Ukrainian-German Dictionary (1997) VTF Perun, Kiev Словник Німецъко-Українский / Українско-Німецъкий (1997) ВТФ Перун, Київ |
| MDF 92 | Modern Dictionary of Foreign Words (1992) Russkij Jazik, Moscow Современный Словаръ Иностранных Слов (1992) Русский Язык, Москва |
| MED 92 | English-Russian Medical Dictionary (1992) Lingva, Tallin Англо-Русский Медицинский Словаръ (1992) Lingva, Таллин |
| OAL 89 | Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary. Cowie AP (Ed.) (1989) 4th edition. Oxford University Press |
| PKW 98 | Pschyrembel Klinisches Wörterbuch (1998) 258. Aufl. de Gruyter, Berlin |
| PON 91 | Pons Deutsch-Englisch. Breitsprecher R (Hrsg.) (1991) 1. Aufl., Nachdruck. Klett Verlag, Stuttgart |
| RGD 89 | Russian-German Dictionary. Leyn K (Ed.) (1989) 10 th Edition. Russkij Jazik, Moscow Русско-Немецкий Словаръ. Под редакцией К. Лейна (1989) 10-е издание, Русский Язык, Москва |
| WDR 87 | Wörterbuch Deutsch-Russisch. Daum E, Schenk W (Hrsg.) (1987) 1. Aufl. der Neubearbeitung, Max Hueber Verlag, München |
| WRD 83 | Wörterbuch Russisch-Deutsch. Daum E, Schenk W (Hrsg.) (1983) 14. Aufl. VEB Verlag Enzyklopädie, Leipzig |

Νοτε

When transferring the cyrillic alphabet into latin, an English phonetic transcript was used rather than a scientific transcript. Probably because of its distribution in the World Wide Web, the phonetic transcript has been widely accepted in the past years in preference to other systems.

Words and geographic names as well as names that are customarily spelt deviantly from the phonetic system are spelt in the customary way.

ANNEXE 1

Some important fragments from the Methodological Recommendations:

"1.5. The mean cumulative effective dose received by all residents of the settlement has been conservatively admitted to be the mean cumulative dose in adults. According to the dosimetric surveillance of the population in the regions contaminated after the Chernobyl accident in the period from 1986 to 1995, the mean annual effective dose to children of various ages did not exceed the mean dose to adults of the same settlement.

1.7. The external radiation dose is the dose due to γ -radiation of all deposited radionuclides with a half-life ranging from several hours to 30 years. The contribution of each of the radionuclides to the dose accumulated for 9.7 years (from 1986 to 1995) exceeds 0.1%. According to modelled estimations, the effective dose due to β - and γ -radiation directly from the radioactive cloud that moved over the settlements of the Russian Federation was less than 5% of the mean cumulative dose for the first year following the accident and is not taken into consideration in the current methodological recommendations. Modelled estimations showed that the contribution of external distant and contact exposure of the skin to β -emitted radionuclides is negligible and has therefore not been accounted for in the recommendations.

1.8. The internal radiation dose is due to ¹³⁷Cs, ¹³⁴Cs, ⁹⁰Sr, ⁸⁹Sr which enter the body via foodstuffs. A contribution of the inhaled radionuclides to the internal radiation dose from both the radioactive cloud and resuspension of the deposited radionuclides has not been accounted for except for ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³⁴Cs. ... The results of autopsy tissue of residents of the Bryansk oblast showed that the contribution of isotopes of plutonium to the effective dose did not exceed 1%. The contribution of other radionuclides - except for those mentioned above - that were deposited on the surface of vegetables shortly after the Chernobyl accident and accumulated for 9.7 years was also negligible." [MER 96]

ANNEXE 2

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE VERIFICATION PROCESS

The correct diagnosis and up-to-date classification of leukaemia and lymphomas remains one of the most difficult diagnostic procedures in contemporary medicine.

The basis for the classification of the various cytological forms of leukaemia is the microscopic examination of blood and bone marrow smears, spinal fluid and exudation in serous spaces. Depending on the type of leukaemia and the individual course of the disease, further histological study of biopsies of lymphatic nodes or bone marrow may be necessary [GLU 98]. A more detailed classification of the type of the transformed cells is achieved by cytochemical methods [GLU 78, HAY 88]. Most of the haemato-oncological departments and laboratories of the city and oblast clinics, including the oncological dispensaries, are now able to carry out such procedures at reasonable quality [FAJ 80]. A contemporary diagnosis though requires supplementary immunophenotyping of the leukaemic cells as well as cytogenetic and molecular genetic analysis – technologies which were introduced only lately in the countries of the CIS [BAR 97, GLU 00a, BAI 01, LUG 01]

These new technologies have revolutionized the classification of leukaemia [BEN 95, BAI 99, WIL 99] and led to changes, leaving some classes of the ICD 9 incompatible with the ICD 10. A review of the cases diagnosed earlier thus led to new classification of some of the cases as formerly unknown subtypes of leukaemia.

However, as this study is conducted retrospectively on cases which have been diagnosed and classified mainly based on the morphological and cytochemical analysis of blood and bone marrow cells, the ICD 9 classification is preserved.

One of the difficulties in the verification of correct diagnoses is acute leukaemia of unspecified cell type (ICD 9: 208.0): This code may actually be attributed in two different cases, namely to 1) acute leukaemia, not otherwise specified (ALNOS) and 2) acute leukaemia of unspecified cell type. In the haematological departments of Russia (and formerly of the Soviet Union), such cases were identified as acute undifferentiated leukaemia (AUL) [FAJ 80, GLU 00]. As a rule, non-verified acute leukaemia, not otherwise specified (ALNOS) were found only in cancer registration documents. In some cases, the initial medical document could not be traced, in all other cases the diagnosis had been established posthumously, when cytochemical or other typing of the blast cells was impossible. If, on the other hand, the diagnosis 208.0 had been verified, the case was cytochemically and sometimes - immunologically typed as acute undifferentiated leukaemia [BEN 95]. Some authors believe such leukaemia to be lymphoid [LUD 94] or myeloid [BEN 91, BEN 97, FRE 98], others postulate the existence of a biphenotypic form [HAN 93, LEN 99]. Even if these undifferentiated forms are extremely rare (1-2,5% of all cases of acute leukaemia), the cases in the study were taken as verified, as there were convincing indications in the medical histories.

From the point of view of classification, another veritable difficulty with using the ICD 9 is the absence of a code for myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS). All present classifications contain information about this clonal disease of the bone marrow, which develops on the grounds of a disorder of the stem cell [BEN 85, AUL 94, ROS 96, BEN 97, GUS 99, GLU 01]. MDS often transform into acute leukaemia [TRI 92], a number of MDS are thus assessed as preleukaemic conditions. Ukrainian authors have found that acute myeloid leukaemia in persons who had been irradiated due to the ChNPP accident is often preceded by MDS [SIV 01]. In the Russian haematological departments, some forms of MDS with a small share of blast cells were described as *small-percentage leukaemia*, which corresponds to *leukaemia with low count of blasts*.

The FAB classification, which accounts for the various forms of MDS, was used in the more important haematological centres in Russia since the middle of the 1980s. According to the FAB classification, the diagnosis *leukaemia with low count of blasts* which usually types as myeloid or myelomonoblast, corresponds to refractary anaemia with excess blasts (RAEB). RAEB is found in children as well as in adults [HAS 94, IVA 94, PAS 95].

Decisive for the diagnosis RAEB is the presence of 5-20% of blast cells in the bone marrow and up to 5% of blast cells in the peripheral blood in contrary to the diagnosis *acute myeloid leukaemia* which demands 30% blast cells in the bone marrow. RAEB is no longer a category of the myelodysplastic syndromes in the ICD 10 and all conditions in which myeloid blast cells in the bone marrow exceed 20% are classified as acute myeloid leukaemia.

According to WHO recommendations, even myelodysplasia with low count of blasts in the bone marrow – which were formerly diagnosed as *myelodysplastic syndromes* (in Russia: *refractary anaemia with excess blasts* OR *acute leukaemia with low count of blasts*) – should now be diagnosed as *acute myeloid leukaemia* [GLU 01]. In this study, two such cases were found in the medical histories, where the diagnosis *acute leukaemia with low count of blasts* was attributed along with the diagnosis MDS, RAEB. Those cases were coded as 205.0, i.e. *acute myeloid leukaemia*.

The myelodysplastic syndromes are known to be inducible by radiation just as acute leukaemia and chronic myeloid leukaemia [GLU 96, BEB 99], they are thus analysed together in this study.

The data collection, ascertainment and verification was carried in the oblast and rayon clinics where the initial medical documents are stored. The results of all the information found during the verification process was entered into a specially designed *Verification Card for Leukaemia Cases* (fig. A2.1).

The process of collection, ascertainment and verification is a multilevel process:

1st Level

Institution:Oblast Oncological Dispensary (OOD)Source:Control Card of the cancer patient

The analysis of the Control Cards allows the comparison with the information that is stored in the database of the cancer registry. If inconsistencies are found, further research in other medical documents and institutions is initiated. The information on the Control Card consists of:

- 1.1.Surname, name, patronymic
- 1.2. Year of birth
- 1.3.Place of residence
- 1.4.Full written diagnosis, including clinical (acute, chronic) and cytological (myeloid, lymphoid, other) characteristics
- 1.5.ICD-9 code
- 1.6.Date of registration of the patient at the OOD
- 1.7.Date of exclusion of the patient from the files of the OOD
- 1.8.Information about in-patient treatment or other medical consultations
- 1.9. Diagnosis was made on the grounds of:
 - 1.9.1. blood analysis
 - 1.9.2. bone marrow punction
 - 1.9.3. clinical picture
 - 1.9.4. histological findings
- 1.10. instructions for autopsy
- 1.11. date of death

Cases were actively sought for in the registries of other blood disorders at the OOD:

- anaemia

(of uncertain aetiology, hypoplastic, refractory, vit-B12-deficiency, autoimmune, etc.)

- lymphoma
- leukaemoid reaction
- thrombocytopaenia of uncertain aetiology
- cytopaenia.

| Name, sur | name | Card number | Sex | Da | te of birth | | Address | Rayo | n code | Date of death |
|------------|--|---------------|---------|-------|-------------|----|------------|------|---------------|---------------------------------------|
| Code of | Verifi. cod | e Date of | Verifi. | late | Age | | Method of | | Diagn | iosis (text) |
| uisease | | ulagilosis | | | | | vermeation | | | |
| SOURCES | OF THE | DATA | | | | | | | | |
| 1. Medic | al Histor | ry | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 2. Out-pa | 2. Out-patient Card $yes \square$ no \square | | | | | | | | | |
| 3. Contro | ol Card c | of dispensary | v follo | w-u | ıp | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 4. Notific | cation of | f a cancer ca | se dia | gno | sed for th | ne | first time | ; | yes□ | no□ |
| 5. Record | ds in the | journal of C | linica | l-D | iagnostic | I | Laboratory | / | yes□ | no□ |
| 6. Blood | smears | | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 7. Blood | analyses | s (text) | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 8. Bone r | marrow s | smears | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 9. Other | medical | documents | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 10.Journa | ls of the | oncological | l cons | ıltir | ng cabine | et | at the CR | С | yes□ | no□ |
| CRITERIA | A FOR TH | IE DI AGNOS | S | | | | | | | |
| 1. Blood | analyses | s (text) | | | | | | | | |
| 2. Myelo | grams _ | | | | | | | | · · · · · · · | |
| 2.1 Cytoc | hemical | analyses _ | | | | | | 1 | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| 3. Bone r | marrow | biopsies | | | | | | | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| 4. Patho- | anatomi | cal analyses | | | | | | | | |
| 5. Immur | nologica | l analyses | | | | | | | | ····· |
| 6. Lympl | natic noc | le biopsies _ | | | | | | | | |
| 7. Cytoge | enetic ar | nalyses | | | | | | | | ····· |
| 8. Blood | cell cult | ture analyses | 5 | | | | | | | |
| 9. Hepato | P. Hepatomegalyyes $no\Box$ | | | | | | | | | |
| 10.Splenc | 0.Splenomegaly yes□ no□ | | | | | | | | | |
| 11.Haemo | orrhagic | syndrome | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 12.Lympl | nadenop | athy | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 13.Articu | lar syndi | rome | | | | | | | yes□ | no□ |
| 14.0ther | criteria | | | | | | | | | |
| Medical | commen | nt | | | | | | | | |

Fig A2.1. Verification Card for Leukaemia Cases

In some of the OODs, as in the Kaluga OOD, there is a medical out-patient card for each patient which contains further information such as the Notification of a cancer case diagnosed for the first time, epicrises of varying length on hospitalisation, results of blood analyses or bone marrow punctions, consultations of haematologists etc.

2ND LEVEL

Institution: Oblast Clinic (OC) or Oblast Paediatric Clinic (OPC) Source: Medical History of the in-patient

Practically all leukaemia patients who were diagnosed at a rayon clinic come to the oblast out-patient department for further haematological consultation. In most cases, those patients then undergo treatment at the oblast clinic or the oblast paediatric clinic. An exception to this rule are patients with uncomplicated forms of CLL or CML with unequivocally established diagnoses and no need for hospitalisation.

The oblast clinics have, as a rule, specialized haematological departments as well as a consultant haematologist in the out-patient department. The in-patients' Medical Histories are kept in the archives of the OC, the Out-patient Cards in the registration offices of the out-patient departments. With help of the Medical histories, the following information is verified:

- 2.1. Surname, name, patronymic
- 2.2. Year of birth
- 2.3. Place of residence
- 2.4. Duration of hospitalisation
- 2.5. Full clinical diagnosis
- 2.6. Date of diagnosis
- 2.7. Anamnestic data and the results of diagnostic procedures that had been carried out in other medical institutions (Russian Haematological Research Centre, Russian Oncological Research Centre). Verified date of diagnosis
- 2.8. Clinical signs of leukaemia (hepato-splenomegaly, haemorrhagic syndrome, lymph node status, etc.)
- 2.9. Results of all blood analyses
- 2.10. Results of all bone marrow punctions
- 2.11. Other diagnostic procedures (bone marrow biopsies, lymph node biopsies, biochemical, immunological and cytogenetic analyses)
- 2.12. Autopsy-protocols

3RD LEVEL

Institution: Laboratories of the OC and the OPC Source: Journal of Diagnostic Procedures

These journals are kept at the archives of the clinical laboratories at the oblast clinics. Results of the following procedures and analyses are recorded:

- 3.1. Myelograms
- 3.2. Cytochemical typing
- 3.3. Immunological typing
- 3.4. Cytogenetic typing

This information allowed to make the diagnosis more specific in several cases, thus ameliorating the level of verification.

4^{TH} Level

Institution: Laboratories of the OC and the OPC

Source: Archives of blood and bone marrow smears

- 4.1. Bone marrow smears, stained with standard methods
- 4.2. Blood and bone marrow smears which underwent cytochemical methods
 - 4.2.1. Myeloperoxidase
 - 4.2.2. Lipids
 - 4.2.3. PAS reaction against glycogen
 - 4.2.4. Unspecific esterase
 - 4.2.5. Acid phosphatase

The work with the morphological and cytochemical smears revealed some cases in which the morphological picture did not show a leukaemia, but e.g. a multiple myeloma, aplastic anaemia etc. Those cases had been added to the database at the stage of verification of the diagnosis, when the diagnosis was changed due to further analyses (repeated bone marrow punction, consultation of medical institutions in Moscow etc.). The same research was carried out for histological material (bone marrow biopsies, lymph node biopsies) and for the biopsies taken during autopsies at the patho-anatomical laboratories of the oblast clinics.

 5^{TH} Level

Institution: All out-patient departments of the OC and the OPC Source: Out-patient Card

The Out-patient Card contains information on further diagnosis as well as the treatment performed by the haematologist at the OC or the OPC

6[™] Level

Institution:Central Rayon Clinic (CRC)Source:Out-patient Card

The most valuable source of information is the central rayon clinic, where the initial Outpatient Cards on all patients are kept. The Out-patient Card, as a rule, contains information from the first visit because of a haematological disease, such as all blood analyses, extracts from the medical histories after hospitalisation etc. The archives of the CRC also allowed the verification of the date and cause of death of deceased patients.

The ascertainment and verification on these six levels led to changes in the database, namely to the exclusion of cases in which the diagnosis *leukaemia* proved to be incorrect for various reasons.

72% (18) of all necessary changes (25) concerned chronic leukaemia, the vast majority of which were CLL. 50% (8 cases) of the cases recorded as CLL turned out to be Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (200.1) after biopsy of lymphatic nodes. Indeed, CLL may be hard to distinguish from a differentiated lymphoma [COM 80, MIN 83]. 44% (7 cases) of CLL (204.1) were in reality multiple myelomas (203.0), but had been miscoded by the medical statistician when transferring the information from the Notification to the Control Card. The analysis of the medical histories, laboratory results, and myelograms supported the fact that there had been a technical mistake. This was confirmed by the verification of bone marrow smears within the framework of this study. Another case (6%) of CLL was also due to miscoding in the Control Card and the diagnosis was subsequently changed to lymphogranulomatosis (201). In one case, a miscoding error in the Control Card had led to the classification of a lymphatic metastasis (196.9) as leukaemia (208.9).

In 6 cases (24%) of the 25 cases in which the diagnosis could not be confirmed, various pathologies (anaemia (285), megaloblastic anaemia (281.0), death before diagnosis without autopsy (798.2)) were provisionally coded as acute leukaemia (208.0) in the Control Card. The diagnosis later remained unchanged in the Control Card, even though the revised diagnosis was unequivocal on the basis of the diagnostic procedures and had been changed in the medical histories. A list of all diagnoses changed is given in table 2.11 in the main text.

Table A2.1 gives the number of cases that were verified for the Bryansk and for the Kaluga oblasts with help of the various sources. It shows only those cases used for the epidemiological analysis (333), the 34 cases that were excluded on the basis of the verification were not taken into account.

In all cases that had occurred in the Bryansk oblast, a corresponding Control Card and in more than 40% of the cases, a Medical History was found. In some cases, even 3-5 Medical Histories could be allocated to one case if the patient had been treated repeatedly or in different in-patient institutions. Information from the diagnostic and pathological laboratories of the Bryansk oblast clinic and paediatric clinic was accessible in more than 30% of the cases.

| | | Ν | Number of cases 1980 – 1998 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|------------|------------|-----------------------------|------------|----|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Highly con | ntaminated | Slightly co | ntaminated | Со | ntrol | | | | | | | | | | |
| Sources for Quality control | n= | 247 | n= | -45 | n= | -41 | | | | | | | | | | |
| | No | % | No | % | No | % | | | | | | | | | | |
| Notification or Control Card of the OOD | 247 | 100 | 27 | 60.0 | 25 | 61.0 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Out-patient Card (OODs, OCs, CRCs) | 10 | 4.0 | 41 | 91.1 | 40 | 97.6 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Medical History (OCs, OPCs, CRCs) | 107 | 43.3 | 18 | 40.0 | 20 | 48.8 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Histological archives of the CDL & PAL of the OCs* | 73 | 29.5 | 21 | 46.7 | 12 | 29.3 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Bone marrow smears | 24 | 9.7 | 8 | 17.8 | 2 | 4.9 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Blood analyses (text) | 99 | 40.1 | 20 | 44.4 | 27 | 6.6 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Bone marrow smears (text) | 87 | 35.2 | 9 | 20.0 | 9 | 21.9 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Cytochemical analyses | 44 | 17.8 | 3 | 6.7 | 2 | 4.9 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Immunol. / cytogen. tests | 38 | 15.4 | 2 | 4.4 | 2 | 4.9 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Clinical symptoms | 74 | 29.9 | 10 | 22.2 | 8 | 19.5 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Diagnosis was established at / in: | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Moscow | 4 | 1.6 | 2 | 4.4 | 2 | 4.9 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Oblast Clinic | 122 | 49.4 | 37 | 82.3 | 32 | 78.0 | | | | | | | | | | |
| City Clinic, Central Rayon Clinic | 121 | 49.0 | 6 | 13.3 | 7 | 17.1 | | | | | | | | | | |

Table A2.1 Sources for the verification of data in the Bryansk and the Kaluga oblasts

*Histological archives of the CDL & PAL of the BOC: journals of myelograms, pathoanatomical comments, results of lymphatic node biopsies

The verification of diagnoses in Kaluga was performed mainly on the grounds of the Outpatient Cards of the oncological dispensaries, the oblast clinic out-patients department and the central rayon clinics. In over 40 % of all cases, Medical Histories of hospitalised patients were consulted. Usually, patients would be diagnosed and treated in the specialized haematological departments of the Kaluga oblast clinic or paediatric clinic. In some cases, when the Medical History could not be found in the archives or was illegible (because of the physical conditions in the archives), the information was traced in the diagnostic and pathological laboratories of the Kaluga oblast clinic. Apart from that, all cases had been registered at the oncological cabinet of the central rayon clinic, were the *journals of newly diagnosed leukaemia cases* and *of deaths of cancer patients* were analysed.

| | | | 1980 | -1986 | | | | | 198 | 7-1992 | | | | | 1993 | 8-1998 | | | | |
|---------------------------------|-----------|---------------|-------------|---------------|----|-------|-----------|---------------|------------|----------------|----|-------|-----------|---------------|-------------|----------------|----|-------|-----|-------|
| TYPE OF | Hi cor | ghly itam. | Slig con | ghtly tam. | Co | ntrol | Hi con | ghly itam. | Sli cor | ghtly 1tam. | Co | ntrol | Hi con | ghly Itam. | Slig con | ghtly Itam. | Co | ntrol | То | otal |
| LEUKAEMIA | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % |
| ALL 204.0 | 2 | 3.08 | 2 | 15.38 | - | - | 10 | 13.89 | - | - | - | - | 9 | 10.84 | 1 | 4.35 | 1 | 6.25 | 25 | 8.39 |
| AML 205.0 / OAL 206.0, 207.0 | 1 | 1.54 | 4 | 30.77 | 2 | 18.18 | 15 | 20.83 | - | - | 1 | 11.11 | 12 | 14.46 | 4 | 17.39 | 1 | 6.25 | 40 | 13.42 |
| ALNOS 208.0 | 13 | 20 | 2 | 15.38 | 2 | 18.18 | 8 | 11.11 | 1 | 16.67 | - | - | 3 | 3.61 | - | - | - | - | 29 | 9.73 |
| ANL 208.0 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 1 | 16.67 | - | - | 3 | 3.61 | 1 | 4.35 | 1 | 6.25 | 6 | 2.01 |
| CLL 204.1 | 13 | 20 | 1 | 7.69 | 6 | 54.55 | 23 | 31.94 | 2 | 33.33 | 4 | 44.44 | 31 | 37.35 | 11 | 47.83 | 7 | 43.75 | 98 | 32.89 |
| CML 205.1 / OCL 205.8,207.1 | 6 | 9.23 | 4 | 30.77 | 1 | 9.09 | 8 | 11.11 | 2 | 33.33 | 3 | 33.33 | 25 | 30.12 | 6 | 26.09 | 5 | 31.25 | 60 | 20.13 |
| CLNOS 208.1 | 12 | 18.46 | - | - | - | - | 6 | 8.33 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | | 18 | 6.04 |
| LNOS 208.9 | 18 | 27.69 | - | - | - | - | 2 | 2.78 | - | - | 1 | 11.11 | - | - | - | - | 1 | 6.25 | 22 | 7.38 |
| Total 204.0-208.9 | 65 | 100 | 13 | 100 | 11 | 100 | 72 | 100 | 6 | 100 | 9 | 100 | 83 | 100 | 23 | 100 | 16 | 100 | 298 | 100 |

Table A2.2 Leukaemia cases by subtypes and periods in the rayons under study (adults)

Table A2.3 Leukaemia cases by subtypes and periods in the rayons under study (children)

| | | | 1980 | -1986 | | | | | 1987 | -1992 | | | | | 1993 | -1998 | | | | |
|-------------------|-----------|---------------|-------------|---------------|-----|------|------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-----|-------|------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-----|-------|----|-------|
| TYPE OF | Hi cor | ghly 1tam. | Slig con | shtly tam. | Con | trol | Hig con | ghly tam. | Slig cont | htly tam. | Сог | ıtrol | Hig con | ghly tam. | Slig cont | htly tam. | Cor | ntrol | T | otal |
| LEUKAEMIA | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % |
| ALL 204.0 | 11 | 78.57 | - | - | - | - | 4 | 80 | - | - | 3 | 75 | 8 | 100 | 1 | 50 | 1 | 100 | 28 | 80 |
| AML 205.0 / | 2 | 14 29 | 1 | 100 | - | _ | _ | - | _ | _ | _ | _ | - | - | 1 | 50 | - | _ | 4 | 11 43 |
| OAL 206.0, 207.0 | - | 11.22 | | 100 | | | | | | | | | | | 1 | 50 | | | • | 11.15 |
| ALNOS 208.0 | 1 | 7.14 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 1 | 2.86 |
| CML 205.1 / | _ | _ | _ | - | _ | _ | 1 | 20 | _ | _ | _ | - | - | _ | _ | - | _ | _ | 1 | 2 86 |
| OCL 205.8,207.1 | | | | | | | 1 | 20 | | | | | | | | | | | | 2.00 |
| LNOS 208.9 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 1 | 25 | - | - | - | - | - | - | 1 | 2.86 |
| Total 204.0-208.9 | 14 | 100 | 1 | 100 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 100 | 0 | 0 | 4 | 100 | 8 | 100 | 2 | 100 | 1 | 100 | 35 | 100 |

Table A2.4 Leukaemia cases by subtypes and periods in the rayons under study (all cases)

| | | | 1980 |)-1986 | | | | | 1987 | 7-1992 | | | | | 1993 | -1998 | | | | |
|---------------------------------|-----------|---------------|-------------|----------------|----|-------|-----------|---------------|------------|----------------|----|-------|-----------|--------------|-------------|--------------|----|-------|-----|-------|
| TYPE OF | Hi con | ghly 1tam. | Sliş con | ghtly 1tam. | Co | ntrol | Hi con | ghly itam. | Sli cor | ghtly 1tam. | Co | ntrol | Hi con | ghly tam. | Slig con | htly tam. | Co | ntrol | Τα | otal |
| LEUKAEMIA | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % |
| ALL 204.0 | 13 | 16.46 | 2 | 14.29 | - | - | 14 | 18.18 | - | - | 3 | 23.08 | 17 | 18.68 | 2 | 8 | 2 | 11.76 | 53 | 15.92 |
| AML 205.0 / OAL 206.0, 207.0 | 3 | 3.80 | 5 | 35.71 | 2 | 18.18 | 15 | 19.48 | - | - | 1 | 7.69 | 12 | 13.19 | 5 | 20 | 1 | 5.88 | 44 | 13.21 |
| ALNOS 208.0 | 14 | 17.72 | 2 | 14.29 | 2 | 18.18 | 8 | 10.39 | 1 | 16.67 | - | - | 3 | 3.30 | - | - | - | - | 30 | 9.01 |
| ANL 208.0 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 1 | 16.67 | - | - | 3 | 3.30 | 1 | 4 | 1 | 5.88 | 6 | 1.80 |
| CLL 204.1 | 13 | 16.46 | 1 | 7.14 | 6 | 54.55 | 23 | 29.87 | 2 | 33.33 | 4 | 30.77 | 31 | 34.07 | 11 | 44 | 7 | 41.18 | 98 | 29.43 |
| CML 205.1 / OCL 205.8, 207.1 | 6 | 7.59 | 4 | 28.57 | 1 | 9.09 | 9 | 11.69 | 2 | 33.33 | 3 | 23.08 | 25 | 27.47 | 6 | 24 | 5 | 29.41 | 61 | 18.32 |
| CLNOS 208.1 | 12 | 15.19 | - | - | - | - | 6 | 7.79 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 18 | 5.41 |
| LNOS 208.9 | 18 | 22.78 | - | - | - | - | 2 | 2.60 | - | - | 2 | 15.38 | - | - | - | - | 1 | 5.88 | 23 | 6.91 |
| Total 204.0-208.9 | 79 | 100 | 14 | 100 | 11 | 100 | 77 | 100 | 6 | 100 | 13 | 100 | 91 | 100 | 25 | 100 | 17 | 100 | 333 | 100 |

| | | Numł | | T -4-1 | | | | | |
|------------------------------|---------------|-----------------|----------------|------------------|-----|-------|-------|------|--|
| TYPE OF LEUKAEMIA | Hig contan | ghly ninated | Slig contar | ghtly ninated | Сог | ntrol | 10181 | | |
| | No | % | No | % | No | % | No | % | |
| ALL 204.0 | 44 | 17.81 | 4 | 8.89 | 5 | 12.20 | 53 | 15.9 | |
| AML 205.0 / OAL 206.0, 207.0 | 30 | 12.15 | 10 | 22.22 | 4 | 9.76 | 44 | 13.2 | |
| ALNOS 208.0 | 25 | 10.12 | 3 | 6.67 | 2 | 4.88 | 30 | 9.0 | |
| ANL 208.0 | 3 | 1.21 | 2 | 4.44 | 1 | 2.44 | 6 | 1.8 | |
| CLL 204.1 | 67 | 27.13 | 14 | 31.11 | 17 | 41.46 | 98 | 29.4 | |
| CML 205.1 / OCL 205.8,207.1 | 40 | 16.19 | 12 | 26.67 | 9 | 21.95 | 61 | 18.4 | |
| CLNOS 208.1 | 18 | 7.29 | - | - | - | - | 18 | 5.4 | |
| LNOS 208.9 | 20 | 8.10 | - | - | 3 | 7.32 | 23 | 6.9 | |
| Total 204.0-208.9 | 247 | 100 | 45 | 100 | 41 | 100 | 333 | 100 | |

| Table A2.5 Leukaemia cases by | subtypes for | or the entire | e period | (1980-1998) | in the | rayons |
|-------------------------------|--------------|---------------|----------|-------------|--------|--------|
| under study (all cases) | | | | | | |

Verification was difficult for various reasons

- In accordance with the official requirements, the clinical or even cytological type of leukaemia was often not given when the case was reported to the OOD.
- Diagnostic materials (blood and bone marrow smears), according to the regulations of the Russian Federation (and formerly the Soviet Union), only have to be stored for five years. The smears are not treated for conservation, as is the case for histological slides, so that the stain discolours and they become worthless for verification.
- Journals in which laboratory results (of bone marrow punctions and biopsies, lymphatic node biopsies, immunological etc. analyses) are recorded, are often stored for not more than five years.
- Many of the archives at the oblast, city and rayon clinics are insufficient for extended storage of papers, so that some of the initial medical documents could not be retrieved.
- The diagnostic process itself suffered from inadequacy to distinguish some types of leukaemia during the study period.

ANNEXE 3

CONFIRMATION - BESTÄTIGUNG

Ich erkläre hiermit, die vorliegende Dissertation am Medical Radiological Research Centre (MRRC) of the Russian Academy of Medical Sciences (RAMS), Obninsk, Russland, und am Strahlenbiologischen Institut der Ludwig-Maximilians Universität, München, Deutschland, selbständig angefertigt zu haben. Außer der angegebenen Hilfsmittel habe ich mich keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient. Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, habe ich als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen.

Die für die Dissertation verwendeten Daten wurden mir vom Direktor des MRRC RAMS, Professor VK Ivanov, zu diesem Zweck ausdrücklich zur Verfügung gestellt (siehe folgende Seite).

Ich habe bisher an keiner in- oder ausländischen Medizinischen Fakultät bzw. keinem Medizinischen Fachbereich ein Gesuch um Promotion eingereicht – weder über dieses, noch über ein anderes Thema.

Teile der vorgelegten Arbeit werden im Rahmen folgender Arbeiten veröffentlicht:

- Ivanov VK, Tsyb AF, Gorski AI, Nilova EV, Ivanova LV, Maksioutov MA, Khait SE, Becker SI, Kellerer AM (2003) Radiation-epidemiological analysis of leukaemia incidence among children and adolescents at exposure in the population of the Bryansk region after the Chernobyl accident. Eingereicht bei Environmental Radiat Biophys.

- Ivanov VK, Becker SI, Maksioutov MA, Bronsart von Schellendorff EV, Khait SYe, Korelo AM, Gorsky AI, Matjash VA, Vlasov OK, Kaidalov OV (2003) German-French Initiative for Chernobyl, Subproject 3.2.4. *Leukaemia Incidence among Children and Adults in the Most Highly Contaminated Territories of Russia*. Final Report.

Ort, Datum

Susanne Isabel Becker



Address: 4 Korolyov str., Obninsk, Kaluga region, Russia, 249020 Phone: (095) 956-94-12; (08439) 7-23-22 Fax: (095) 956-14-40 E-mail: nrer@obninsk.com

WHO Collaborating Centre of Radiation Epidemiology

I entrust Susanne Isabel Becker with the data on leukaemia cases (1980-1998) in the Bryansk and Kaluga regions of Russia as well as with all relevant demographic and dosimetric information, which she may use at her discretion for her doctoral thesis.

Professor V. Ivanov Corresponding Member of the RAMS (Radiation Epidemiology) Deputy Director of MRRC RAMS Head, RNMDR



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was conducted at the Radiobiological Institute of the University of Munich. I am obliged to the Director of the Institute, Professor Albrecht Kellerer.

My warmest thanks go to the two supervisors of this thesis:

Professor Viktor Konstantinovich Ivanov of the Medical Radiological Research Centre of the Russian Academy of Medical Sciences, Obninsk, Russia, who entrusted me with the data and was generous and supportive throughout the entire study period.

Professor Dieter Hölzel, Director of the Tumour Registry at the University of Munich, for his valuable suggestions and, above all, for helping me through a difficult time. This thesis may not have been written without his encouragement.

I would like to thank especially all the Russian colleagues involved in this project:

thank you for being such great colleagues and for having become friends in the course of the work. Your expertise, incessant enthusiasm and personal commitment was decisive for the quality of this study. I owe particular thanks to the responsible haematologist, Svetlana Yevgenevna Khait, the great data-processor, Aleksandr Mikhailovich Korelo, and the curator and wonderful organizer, Marat Adilievich Maksioutov.

I appreciate a lot the advice and often very practical help I have had all along from my colleague and friend, Elke Nekolla. Working with you is an experience that I would not like to miss. Thank you, Elke.

I am very grateful to Dr. Christine Waterhouse for haematological consultation and to my mother for meticulous proof-reading. I dread to think of the many mistakes that would otherwise still be in the text. Any remaining inaccuracies or mistakes are entirely my responsibility.

Last, but not least, my thanks go to friends and colleagues and to my father, all of whom provided anything from continuous support and helpful comments to the occasional kick.

CURRICULUM VITAE

SUSANNE ISABEL BECKER *01.10.1969 IN FRANKFURT/MAIN, GERMANY PERLACHER STR. 94, 81539 MUNICH, GERMANY

SCHOOL AND UNIVERSITY EDUCATION

- 02/02 Graduation as Magistra Public Health postgrad.
- 05/00 02/02 Postgraduate Studies in Public Health at Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich

Master's thesis: 'Incidence of Childhood Leukaemia in the Most Highly Contaminated Regions Before and after the Chernobyl Accident'

- 04/99 Graduation from Medical School
- 04/92 04/99 Medicine at Johann-Wolfgang-Goethe University, Frankfurt/Main and at Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany

Internships

| 12/98 - 03/99 | Psychiatry, Munich, Germany |
|---------------|---|
| 08/98 - 11/98 | Haematology & Oncology, Munich, Germany |
| 04/98 - 07/98 | Surgery, Kiev, Ukraine |

Practical training

| 08/97 | Paediatrics, Frankfurt, Germany |
|---------------|---|
| 09/96 | Surgery, Frankfurt, Germany |
| 08/95 - 09/95 | Paediatric Haematology & Oncology, Minsk, Belarus |
| 09/94 - 10/94 | Internal Medicine, Frankfurt, Germany |
| 08/93 - 09/93 | Paediatric Haematology & Oncology, Minsk, Belarus |

- 10/90 03/92 Law at Johann-Wolfgang-Goethe University, Frankfurt/Main
- 02/89 06/90 Russian at the Plekhanov Institute (MINCh) in Moscow, Russia
- 1979 1988 German-French bilingual Grammar School at Frankfurt/Main with exception of:
- 11/85 12/85 Lycée Vaugelas in Chambéry, France
- 1983 1984 The John Bentley School in Calne, Wiltshire, England (fourth form)

PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES

- 02/03 date Weilheim Hospital, Department of General Surgery (Director: Prof. G. Hauer)
- 05/99 01/03 Research associate at the Radiobiological Institute at Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich (Director: Prof. A.M. Kellerer) Epidemiological research: planning and organisational and scientific management of international multicentre studies on the health effects of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant accident.
- 07/95 04/99 Student assistant at the Radiobiological Institute at Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich (Director: Prof. A.M. Kellerer) Epidemiological research and planning of studies on the health effects of the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant accident, especially childhood leukaemia.
- 08/91 09/91 Journalistic work for Time Magazine, Moscow
- 06/89-07/90 Translating/interpreting and office work for Siemens AG, Moscow, Russia

PUBLICATIONS

Ivanov VK, Tsyb AF, Gorski AI, Nilova EV, Maksioutov MA, Khait SE, Becker SI, Kellerer AM (submitted in 2003) *Radiation-Epidemiological Analysis of Leukemia Incidence Among Children and Adolescents at Exposure in the Population of the Bryansk Region after the Chernobyl Accident*. Submitted for publication in Radiat Environ Biophys

Becker SI (2003) Entwicklung der Leukämieraten bei Kindern ab 1982 in den durch Tschernobyl radioaktiv belasteten Gebieten der Sowjetunion. Schriftenreihe Reaktorsicherheit und Strahlenschutz des Bundesministers für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit

Gapanovich VN, Iaroshevich RF, Shuvaeva LP, Becker SI, Nekolla EA, Kellerer AM (2001) *Childhood leukemia in Belarus before and after the Chernobyl accident: continued follow-up*. Radiat Environ Biophys 40: 259-267

Gapanovich VN, Shuvaeva LP, Yaroshevich RF, Vinokurova GG, Ivanov EP, Shapovayuk NK, Krivenko SI, Melchekova NM, Yunussova DA, Kellerer AM, Becker S, Verger P (2001) *Adulthood Haemopathie Incidence Rates in the Republic of Belarus in 1979-1997*. Health Effects of the Chernobyl Accident: Results of 15-year Follow-up Studies, June 4-8, 2001, Kiev, Ukraine. International Journal of Radiation Medicine, Vol 3, No. 1-2, Special Issue

Ivanov EP, Shuvaeva LP, Kozarezova TI, Kuvshinnikov VA, Tolochko GV, Iaroshevich RF, Ivanov VE, Shapovaluck NK, Melchakova NM, Parkin M, Black R, Kramarova S, Kellerer AM, Becker S, Nekolla E (2001) *Childhood Leukaemia and Lymphoma in Belarus after the Chernobyl Accident*. Health Effects of the Chernobyl Accident: Results of 15-year Follow-up Studies, June 4-8, 2001, Kiev, Ukraine. International Journal of Radiation Medicine, Vol 3, No. 1-2, Special Issue

Verger P, Becker S, Kellerer AM, Pott-Born R, Friederichs H-G, Bazyka DA (2000) FGI Project 3: HEALTH. (Poster) Eurosafe Conference, Cologne

Biesold H, Friederichs H-G, Pretsch G, Becker S et al (2000) *The French-German Initiative for Chernobyl.* (Poster) Eurosafe Conference, Cologne

Vinokurova GG, Shuvaeva LP, Gapanovich VN, Becker SI et al. (2000) *Dynamics and Structure of Leukaemia Incidence in Adults in the Mogilev Oblast 1979-1997*. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference of Contemporary Questions in Haematology and Transfusiology, Minsk (in Russian)

V.N. Gapanovich, L.P. Shuvaeva, S.I. Krivenko, S.I. Becker et al. (2000) *Leukaemia Incidence in Adults in the City of Minsk 1979-1997*. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference of Contemporary Questions in Haematology and Transfusiology, Minsk (in Russian)

L.P. Shuvaeva, V.N. Gapanovich, R.A. Gagarina, S.I. Becker et al. (2000) *Leukaemia Incidence in Adults in the Brest Oblast 1979-1997*. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference of Contemporary Questions in Haematology and Transfusiology, Minsk (in Russian)

Ivanov EP, Gapanovich VN, Shuvaeva LP, Becker S et al. (2000) *Results of the Implementation of the German-French Initiative for Chernobyl, Health Effects Project, Subproject No. 3.2.3 Leukaemia Incidence in Different Regions of Belarus.* Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference of Contemporary Questions in Haematology and Transfusiology, Minsk (in Russian)

E. Solem, S. Becker, E. Grimmer-Solem (2000) *Der Gesundheitsbegriff und das Definitionsproblem: Praktische Ansichten über die Eigenverantwortung im Gesundheitsprozeβ.* Der Klinikarzt 5/00

Becker S (1999) *Radiation injury and the Chernobyl accident*. Bookreview. Radiat Environ Biophys 38: 217

Ivanov EP, Tolochko GV, Shuvaeva LP, Ivanov VE, Iaroshevich RF, Becker S, Nekolla E, A.M. Kellerer AM (1998) *Infant leukaemia in Belarus after the Chernobyl accident*. Radiat Environ Biophys 37: 53-55

Ivanov EP, Tolochko GV, Shuvaeva LP, Becker S, Nekolla E, Kellerer AM (1996) *Childhood leukaemia in Belarus before and after the Chernobyl accident*. Radiat Environ Biophys 35: 75-80